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Directors  statement 
 
We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the 
audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2024. 
 
In our opinion: 
 
(a) the financial statements set out on pages FS1 to FS97 are drawn up so as to give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2024 
and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year 
ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 and 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International); and 

 
(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will 

be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 
 
The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements 
for issue. 
 
 
Directors 
 
The directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows: 
 
Raymond John Ferguson  
Phau Yee Meng Pearlyn  Chief Executive Officer  
Shirish Moreshwar Apte  
Kenji Yoneda  
Nirmala Menon Y B Menon  
Maya Hari  
Yap Chee Keong  
Naoto Oda (Appointed on 1 April 2024) 
Kensei Kawaguchi (Appointed on 1 April 2024) 
 
 
Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures 
 
Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any 
arrangement whose object was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by 
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, 
other than as disclosed below. 
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According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Companies 
Act 
year (including those held by their spouses and infant children) in shares, debentures, warrants 
and share options in the Company and in related corporations (other than wholly-owned 
subsidiaries) are as follows: 
 

Name of director and corporation in which 
interests are held 

Holdings in the name 
of the director, spouse 

or infant children 
  

 
At beginning 
of the year  

At end 
of the year 

Direct and deemed interest in ordinary shares of 
Singapore Life Holdings Pte. Ltd.    

Raymond John Ferguson 988,843  
Phau Yee Meng Pearlyn 132,538  
Maya Hari 29,280  
Shirish Moreshwar Apte  165,672  
   
Direct interest in share options of Singapore Life 

Holdings Pte. Ltd.    
Raymond John Ferguson 1,104,484  
Phau Yee Meng Pearlyn 3,666,888  
Maya Hari 14,910  
Shirish Moreshwar Apte 82,836  
   
Except as disclosed in this statement, no director who held office at the end of the financial year 
had interests in shares, debentures, warrants or share options of the Company, or of related 
corporations either at the beginning of the financial year or at the end of the financial year. 
 

at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects 
are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by 
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate. 
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Share options 
 
During the financial year, there were: 
 
(i) no options granted by the Company to any person to take up unissued ordinary shares of the 

Company; and 
 
(ii) no shares issued by virtue of any exercise of option to take up unissued shares of the 

Company. 
 
As at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company under option. 
 
 
Auditors 
 
The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept the appointment. 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Raymond John Ferguson Phau Yee Meng Pearlyn 
Director Director 
 
 
29 April 2025 
 



 KPMG LLP 
12 Marina View #15-01 
Asia Square Tower 2 
Singapore 018961 

Telephone +65 6213 3388 
Fax  +65 6225 0984 
Internet   www.kpmg.com.sg 
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KPMG LLP (Registration No. T08LL1267L), an accounting 
limited liability partnership registered in Singapore under the 
Limited Liability Partnerships Act 2005 and a member firm of the 
KPMG global organization of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English 
company limited by guarantee. 
 

 
 
Member of the Company 
Singapore Life Holdings Pte. Ltd. and its subsidiaries 
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Singapore Life Holdings Pte. Ltd. 

position of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 
2024, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of 
the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policies, as set out 
on pages FS1 to FS97. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the 
statements of financial position and changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in 

Singapore Financial 

consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at  
31 December 2024 and of the consolidated financial performance, changes in equity and cash 
flows of the Group for the year ended on that date. 
 
Basis for opinion 
 

section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional 
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and 
the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key audit matters  
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description 
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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the financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, 
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, 
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit 
opinion on the accompanying financial statements. 
 
Valuation of insurance contract liabilities 
 
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has $13.6 billion (2023: $11.8 billion) of insurance contract 
liabilities, which represents 85% (2023: 85  
 
As indicated in note 19.2.2 of the consolidated financial statements, the liabilities related to these 
insurance contracts include estimates for the present value of future cash flows, the risk 
adjustment for non-financial risks, and the contractual service margin.  
 
The valuation of the insurance contract liabilities involves significant judgments over the 
appropriateness of methods, models, data and assumptions used, which includes the: 
 
 estimation of the amount, timing, uncertainty of future cash flows and discount rate curves 

applied; 
 determination of risk adjustment and the corresponding confidence level to be applied; and 
 determination of the coverage units used to amortise the contractual service margin. 

 
Economic assumptions such as investment return and interest rates, and non-economic 

experience are some of the key inputs used to estimate these insurance contract liabilities.  
 
Inappropriate or incomplete data, assumptions, or application of models can result in material 
impact to the present value of future cash flows, risk adjustment and contractual service margin.  
 
Due to the complex and subjective judgements involved, coupled with the sensitivity of the 
valuation of insurance contract liabilities to these key judgements and assumptions, we have 
identified this as a key audit matter.  
 
Our audit procedures, assisted by our actuarial specialists included, amongst others: 
 
 Evaluated the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the Appointed Actuary; 

 
 Discussed with management and the Appointed Actuary on the selection and application of 

the method, models, assumptions and data used; 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness and test the mathematical accuracy of models, methods, 
assumptions and data applied. 
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 Evaluate the appropriateness of methods, models and assumptions selected to estimate the 

future cash flows, discount rate curves, risk adjustment and contractual service margin; 
 

 Benchmark methods, models and assumptions (where relevant); 
 
 Evaluate methods, models and assumption changes across the comparative periods; 

 
  

 
 Evaluate the completeness, accuracy and relevance of data used, which includes performing 

an assessment on the appropriateness of the reconciliation of data and data checks performed 
by management; and 

 
 

future cash flows and total insurance contract liabilities period to period are in-line with our 
business understanding. 

 
Based on the work performed and the evidence obtained, we found the methods, models, 
assumptions and data used by management to be appropriate.  
 
Other information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report. Other 
information is defined as all information in the annual report other than the financial statements 

 
 

 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining 
a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets 
are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly 
authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair 
financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets. 
 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

 
 

 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. 

 
 Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
lity to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 

events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for 
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal controls that we identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company 
and by those subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have 
been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
29 April 2025
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
Year ended 31 December 2024 
 
 Note 2024 2023 
    
    
Insurance revenue 6 1,281,251  1,100,850 
Insurance service expenses 8 (1,136,300)  (1,027,605) 
Insurance service result before reinsurance contracts 

held  144,951 73,245 
Allocation of reinsurance premiums  (182,752) (236,848) 
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers for incurred claims  205,373 260,887 
Net income from reinsurance contracts held  22,621 24,039 
Insurance service results  167,572 97,284 
Net investment income 7   262,710   184,292 
Net realised gain/ (loss) on sale of investments at fair value 

through profit or loss 7  481,793  (30,361) 
Net fair value gain on investments at fair value through profit 

or loss 7  143,503  360,236 
Net realised gain on derivatives 7  37,013  102,696 
Net fair value loss on derivatives 7  (393,964) (25,857) 
Total investment return    531,055 591,006 
    
Net finance expense from insurance contracts issued 7 (580,049) (415,561) 
Net finance income/ (expenses) from reinsurance contracts 

held 7 67,088 (78,062) 
Net insurance finance expenses  (512,961) (493,623) 
Net investment income, insurance finance expense and 

reinsurance finance income  18,094 97,383 
Net insurance and investment result    185,666 194,667 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income (continued) 
Year ended 31 December 2024 
 
 Note 2024 2023 
    
    
Commission income   49,797 42,879 
Commission expense  (46,796) (35,117) 
Net commission income  3,001 7,762 
    
Other income    3,986   8,130 
Other operating expenses 8 (224,249) (234,887) 
    
Loss before tax  (31,596) (24,328) 
Income tax expense 9(a) (14,090) (18,616) 
Net loss for the financial year  (45,686) (42,944) 
    
Attributable to:    
- Shareholders  (43,174) (39,558) 
- Non-controlling interests  (2,512) (3,386) 
Net loss for the financial year  (45,686) (42,944) 
    
Other comprehensive income    
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (734) (560) 
Remeasurement gain/ (loss) on retirement benefit  43 (22) 
Other comprehensive loss for the year  (691) (582) 
    
Total comprehensive loss for the financial year  (46,377)  (43,526) 
    
Attributable to:    
- Shareholders  (43,643) (40,071) 
- Non-controlling interests    (2,734) (3,455) 
  (46,377) (43,526) 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Statement of financial position 
As at 31 December 2024 
 
  Group Company 
 Note 2024 2023 2024 2023 
      
Non-current assets      
Investments in subsidiaries 10   3,101,543 3,087,085 
Goodwill  131,973 131,973   
Property and equipment 11 21,395 33,743   
Intangible assets 12 447,586 474,513   
Investments at fair value through profit or 

loss 13 6,545,045 4,971,109   
Derivative financial assets 15 5,844 24,034   
Deferred tax assets  9(c) 94,117 88,142   
Other receivable  16  1,676  2,077   
Insurance contract assets 19  51,826  303,256   
Reinsurance contract assets 19  338,691  850,927   
    7,638,153 6,879,774 3,101,543 3,087,085 
      
Current assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 14 503,564  594,107 144,943 198,359 
Investments at fair value through profit or 

loss 13 7,811,712 6,321,600   
Derivative financial assets 15 50,095  142,330   
Other receivables 16 100,855 91,199 135,247 153,658 
Prepayments  19,410  18,106 557 359 
Insurance contract assets 19 232,551  139,767   
Reinsurance contract assets 19 398,855  501,817   
  9,117,042  7,808,926 280,747 352,376 
      
Current liabilities      

Derivative financial liabilities 15 246,764  20,930   
Other payables 17 474,121  297,029 37,228 11,486 
Insurance contract liabilities 19 1,036,088  447,303   
Reinsurance contract liabilities 19 174,078  150,760   
Current tax payable  27,494  32,034   
Lease liabilities  12,253  12,152   
  1,970,798 960,208 37,228 11,486 
      
Net current assets  7,146,244  6,848,718 243,519 340,890 
      
Non-current liabilities      
Insurance contract liabilities 19 12,587,843  11,364,162   
Reinsurance contract liabilities 19 620,233  751,728   
Deferred tax liabilities 9(c) 67,089 68,950   
Derivative financial liabilities 15 170,766 113,061   
Lease liabilities  4,316 14,571   
Debt issued 18 544,764 543,910 544,764 543,910 
Other payable  17 399    
  13,995,410 12,856,382 544,764 543,910 
      
Net assets  788,987 872,110 2,800,298 2,884,065 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Statement of financial position (continued) 
As at 31 December 2024 

 
  Group Company 
 Note 2024 2023 2024 2023 
      
Equity      
Share capital and other capital 21 2,518,424 2,518,424 2,518,424 2,518,424 
Translation reserve  (3,054) (2,550)   
Retirement benefit reserve  43 8   
Share based compensation reserve   18,144  17,898 
Merger reserve  (320,252) (320,252)   
Accumulated (losses)/ profits  (1,399,469) (1,335,513) 281,874 347,743 

  795,692 878,261 2,800,298 2,884,065 
Non-controlling interests  (6,705) (6,151)   
Total equity  788,987 872,110 2,800,298 2,884,065 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Statement of changes in equity 
Year ended 31 December 2024 
 

 Note 

Share 
capital and 

other capital 

Share based 
compensation 

reserve 
Accumulated 

profits 
Total  
equity 

    $'000 $'000 
Company      
At 1 January 2023  2,338,424 16,393 341,575 2,696,392 
      
Net profit for the financial 

year    21,921 21,921 
      
Transactions with 

shareholders of the 
Company, recognised 
directly in equity      

Contributions by and 
distributions to owners      

Issuance of shares 21 180,000   180,000 
Distributions to perpetual 

securities holders 23   (15,753) (15,753) 
Employee share plan   1,505  1,505 
At 31 December 2023  2,518,424 17,898 347,743 2,884,065 
      
At 1 January 2024  2,518,424 17,898 347,743 2,884,065 
      
Net loss for the financial year    (50,072) (50,072) 
      
Transactions with owners, 

recognised directly in 
equity      

Contributions by and 
distributions to owners      

Distributions to perpetual 
securities holders 23   (15,797) (15,797) 

Employee share plan   (17,898)  (17,898) 
At 31 December 2024  2,518,424  281,874 2,800,298 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of cash flows 
Year ended 31 December 2024 
 
 Note 2024 2023 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Loss after tax  (45,686) (42,944) 
Adjustments for:    

Income tax expense  14,090 18,616 
Depreciation of property and equipment and amortisation 
of intangible assets 11,12 94,200 84,884 
Write-off of property and equipment and intangible assets 11,12 2,524  9,030 
Disposal of property and equipment and intangible assets 11,12 864  
Loss on lease modifications  1,382 3,285 
Net realised gain on sale of derivatives and investments at 
fair value through profit or loss 7 (518,806) (72,335) 
Net fair value gain on derivatives and investments at fair 
value through profit or loss 7 250,461 (334,379) 
Share-based payments expense 22 (16,324) 1,717 
Net interest income on investments 7 (183,700) (128,387) 
Interest expense  20,182 20,358 
Dividend income 7 (54,156) (47,408) 

Operating cash flows before changes in operating 
assets/liabilities  (434,969)  (487,563) 

    
Changes in operating assets/liabilities:    

Changes in insurance and reinsurance contract 
assets/liabilities  2,478,133 1,164,537 

Other receivables and prepayments  (10,409) 30,756 
Other payables  175,085 (3,393) 

Cash generated from operating activities  2,207,840  704,337 
Income tax paid  (26,466) (149,529) 
Interest paid  (19,329) (19,506) 
Net cash generated from operating activities  2,162,045  535,302 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Interest received  183,700 128,387 
Dividends received  54,156 47,408 
Purchase of property and equipment 11 (5,821) (6,186) 
Purchase of intangible assets 12 (54,022) (70,531) 
Purchases of investments  (22,755,733) (664,319) 
Proceeds from sale of investments  20,353,994 102,696 
Net cash flows used in investing activities  (2,223,726)  (462,545) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Issue of ordinary shares 21  180,000 
Distributions paid  (15,797) (15,753) 
Principal payment of lease liabilities  (13,065) (12,701) 
Net cash (used in)/ generated from financing activities  (28,862) 151,546 
    
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents  (90,543) 224,303 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  594,107 369,804 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14 503,564 594,107 
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
These notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 April 2025. 
 
 

1 Domicile and activities 
 
Singapore Life Holdings Pte. Ltd. 
Singapore and has its registered office at 4 Shenton Way, #01-01, SGX Centre II, Singapore 
018961. 
 
On 18th March 2024, Sumitomo Life Insurance Company has completed acquiring 100% of 
Singapore Life Holdings Pte Ltd and had become the immediate and ultimate holding company 
of Singapore Life Holdings Pte Ltd. 
 
The principal activity of the Company is to hold investment in insurance companies and financial 
advisory firms. The Group is primarily involved in the transacting life and general insurance 
businesses. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group relate to the Company and its subsidiaries 

in its associates and jointly controlled entity. 
 
 

2 Basis of preparation 
 

2.1 Statement of compliance 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting 

The changes to material accounting policies are described 
in Note 2.4. 
 
The assets and liabilities of the Group which relate to the insurance business carried on in 
Singapore are subject to the requirements of the Insurance Act 1966 (the Insurance Act). Such 
assets and liabilities are accounted for in the books of the insurance funds established under the 
Insurance Act. Assets held in the insurance funds may be withdrawn only if the withdrawal meets 
the requirements stipulated in Section 16 of the Insurance Act and the Group continues to be able 
to meet the solvency requirement of Section 17 of the Insurance Act.  
 

2.2 Basis of measurement 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise 
described below. 
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2.3 Functional and presentation currency 
 

currency. All financial information presented in Singapore dollars has been rounded to the nearest 
thousand, unless otherwise stated. 
 

2.4 New Standards and Amendments 
 
The Group has applied the following SFRS(I)s, amendments to and interpretations of SFRS(I) for 
the first time for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2024: 
 
 Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
 Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 
 Amendments to SFRS(I) 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 
 Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-7 and SFRS(I) 7: Supplier Finance Arrangements 

 
The application of these amendments to standards and interpretations does not have a material 
effect on the financial statements. 
 

2.5 New accounting pronouncements not yet effective 
 
The Group has not applied the following that have been issued but which are not yet effective: 
 
 Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-21: Lack of Exchangeability effective from 1 January 2025 
 Amendments to SFRS(I) 9 and SFRS(I) 7: Amendments to the Classification and 

Measurement of Financial Instruments effective from 1 January 2026 
 Annual Improvements to SFRS(I)s  Volume 11 effective from 1 January 2026 
 Amendments to SFRS(I) 9 and SFRS(I) 7: Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent 

Electricity effective from 1 January 2026 
 Amendments to SFRS(I) 10 and SFRS(I) 1-28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture issued on 29 December 2017 with effective date 
to be determined 

 SFRS(I) 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements effective from 1 January 
2027 

 SFRS(I) 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosure effective from 1 January 
2027 

 
The application of these amendments to standards and interpretations does not have a material 
effect on the financial statements. 
 
 

3 Material accounting policies 
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these financial statements, except in respect of some groups of insurance and reinsurance 
contracts existing at 1 January 2022 which is the date the Company transitioned to SFRS(I) 17. 
The changes in accounting policies as explained in note 2.4. 
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The Group applied the modified retrospective approach or the fair value approach in SFRS(I) 17 
to identify, recognise and measure the groups of contracts at 1 January 2022 because it was 
impractical to apply the full retrospective approach. These transition approaches continue to 
impact a significant part of how the CSM balance has been determined at the reporting date. See 
Note 3.11.1.6. 
 

3.1 Currency translation 
 

3.1.1 Foreign currency transactions 
 

to the functional currency using exchange rates at the dates of transactions. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to Singapore 
Dollars at the exchange rates at that date. Currency translation differences resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the reporting date are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates as at the date of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair values 
were determined.  
 

3.1.2 Foreign operations 
 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, excluding goodwill and fair value adjustments 
arising on acquisition, are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the end of the 
reporting period. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Singapore 
dollars at exchange rates at the dates of transactions. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising 
on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation 
and translated at the exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. 
 
Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the 
foreign currency translation reserve in equity. However, if the operation is a non-wholly-owned 
subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the 
non-controlling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant 
influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that 
foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When the 
Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while 
retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-
controlling interests. When the Group disposes of only part of its investment in an associate or 
jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation while retaining significant influence or 
joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is 
neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising 
from such a monetary item are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation. 
These are recognised in other comprehensive income, and are presented in the translation reserve 
in equity. 
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3.2 Group accounting 
 

3.2.1 Consolidation  
 
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised 
gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the 

in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 
 

3.2.2 Business combinations 
 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with 
SFRS(I) 3 Business Combinations as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. 
 
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and 
included in the consideration transferred. If the contingent consideration that meets the definition 
of a financial instruments is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted 
for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each 
reporting date and subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 

fair value or at the non- share of the recognised amounts of the 

on a transaction-by-transaction basis. All other non-controlling interests are measured at 
acquisition-date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by SFRS(I)s. 
 
Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity 
securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as 
incurred. 
 

for as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no adjustments are made 
to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Adjustments to non-controlling 
interests arising from transactions that do not involve the loss of control are based on a 
proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary. 
 
Business combinations involving entities under common control are accounted for by applying 
the pooling-of-interest method. The assets and liabilities of the combining entities are reflected at 
their carrying amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements of the controlling holding 
company. Any difference between the consideration paid and the share capital of the acquired 
entity is reflected within equity as merger reserve. 
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3.2.3 Subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the 
date that control ceases. 
 
The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the 
policies adopted by the Group. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary 
are allocated to the non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests 
to have a deficit balance. 
 

3.2.4 Separate financial statements 
 

statement of financial position at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
 

3.3 Interests in unconsolidated structured entities 
 
A structured entity is an entity in which voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in 
deciding control and is generally established for a narrow and well-defined objective. Interest in 
these entities are 
interests in these entities are disclosed in Note 27. 
 

3.4 Financial instruments 
 

3.4.1 Recognition and initial measurement 
 
The Group recognises deposits with financial institutions and loans and borrowings on the date 
on which they are originated. All other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases 
and sales of financial assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for a financial asset 
or financial liability not measured at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its 
acquisition or issue. 
 

3.4.2 Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost, FVOCI or 
FVTPL. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the 
Group changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected 
financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change 
in the business model.  
 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is 
not designated as at FVTPL: 
 
 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash   

flows; and  
 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are Solely Payments of 
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A financial asset is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL:  
 
 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual   

cash flows and selling financial assets; and  
 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.  

 
The Group may elect to present changes in the fair value of certain equity investments that are 
not held for trading in OCI. The election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis on initial 
recognition and is irrevocable.  
 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above   
are measured at FVTPL. In addition, on initial recognition the Group may irrevocably designate 
a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at 
FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that 
would otherwise arise.  
 
The Group has designated certain debt investments in the participating and non-life segments as 
at FVTPL on initial recognition, because they relate to insurance contracts that are measured in a 
way that incorporates current information and all related insurance finance income and expenses 
are recognised in profit or loss. The assets would otherwise be measured at FVOCI.  
 
Business model assessment 
 
The Group assesses the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held for each 
portfolio of financial assets because this best reflects the way that the business is managed and 
information is provided to management. The information considered includes: 
 
 the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in    

practice; 
  
 the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 

that business model) and how those risks are managed;  
 how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the 

fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and  
 the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and 

expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not 
considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the G
objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised. 

 
Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition 

the assets. 
 
Portfolios of financial assets that are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair  value 
basis, which include underlying items of participating contracts, and portfolios of financial assets 
that are held for trading are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect 
contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets. 
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Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are SPPI 
 
For the purposes of this assessment, principal is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on 
initial recognition. However, the principal may change over time  e.g. if there are repayments of 
principal.  
 
Interest is defined as consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated 
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic 
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.  
 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual 
terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual 
term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet 
this condition. In making this assessment, the Group considers:  
 
 contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;   
 leverage features;  
 prepayment and extension features;   
 -recourse asset  

arrangements); and  
 features that modify consideration for the time value of money (e.g. periodic reset of interest  

rates).  
 
A prepayment feature is consistent with the SPPI criterion if the prepayment amount substantially 
represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which 
may include reasonable compensation for early termination of the contract. In addition, for a 
financial asset acquired at a premium or discount to its contractual par amount, a feature that 
permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the contractual par 
amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include reasonable 
compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of 
the prepayment feature is insignificant on initial recognition.  
 
Some prepayment features permit the debtor to prepay the debt instrument at an amount calculated 
as the remaining contractual cash flows discounted at the current market benchmark interest rate 
plus a fixed spread. The Group has determined that these prepayment features are consistent with 
the SPPI criterion. Because the Group would be compensated only for the change in the market 
benchmark interest rate and for lost interest margin, the prepayment penalty would not include 
any non-SPPI risks and may be seen as reasonable compensation. 
 
Non-derivative financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses 
 
Financial assets at FVTPL 
 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest 
or dividend income, foreign currency gains and losses, are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost 
 
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost under the effective interest method. The 
gross carrying amount is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains 
and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 
recognised in profit or loss. 
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Debt investments at FVOCI 
 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated under the 
effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in 
profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses 
accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Equity investments at FVOCI 
 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit 
or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. 
Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Non-derivative financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and 
losses 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability 
is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading or it is designated as such on initial 
recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gain and losses, 
including any interest expenses, are recognised in profit or loss. Directly attributable transaction 
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
Other financial liabilities are initially measure at fair value less directly attributable transaction 
costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost under the effective interest method. 
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
 

3.4.3 Derecognition 
 
Financial assets 
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset when: 
 The contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or 
 It transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which either: 

- Substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are 
transferred; 

Or 
- The Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 

ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 
 
The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of 
financial position, but retains either all of substantially all of the risks and rewards of the 
transferred assets. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled, or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified 
and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new 
financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. 
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On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished 
and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 

3.5 Impairment  
 

3.5.1 Financial Asset 
 

instruments that are accounted for at amortised cost. The ECL replaces the existing SFRS(I) 1-39 
39 incurred loss impairment model, resulting in earlier recognition of credit losses compared to 
SFRS(I) 1-39. 
 
The methodology outlined by SFRS(I) 9 is a three-stage approach based on the change in the 
credit quality of the financial instrument since inception and the measurement of ECL for these 
assets is dependent on the stage classification as of the reporting date. 
 

Particulars Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
Credit quality Not deteriorated 

significantly since its 
initial recognition 

Deteriorated significantly 
since its initial recognition 

Objective 
evidence of 
impairment 

Credit risk Low Moderate to High High 
ECL Model  
ECL Approach 12 Month ECL Life-time ECL 
ECL 
Computation 

12 months PD * LGD * 
Exposure of Default 

 

Lifetime PD * LGD * Exposure of Default 
 

 

recognised for a financial instrument if there has been a significant increase in credit risk, 
measured using the lifetime probability of default, since initial recognition of the financial 
instruments. If, at the reporting date, the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, a loss allowance for 12-month expected credit losses is 
recognised. All deposits with financial institutions and cash and bank balances are covered under 
general approach. 
 
SFRS(I) 9 allows entities to apply a simplified approach for receivables. The simplified approach 
allows entities to recognise lifetime expected losses on all these assets without the need to identify 
significant increases in credit risk. The Group applies simplified approach on other receivables 
by performing ageing analysis for arriving at ECL estimates. The Group has assessed the 
impairment for receivables measured at amortised cost to be insignificant given that the balances 
are short-term in nature, majority of the receivables are received post-reporting date and there is 
no history of default on collection over the past few years. 
 

3.5.2 Non-financial assets 
 

-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any 

estimated. An impairment loss is 
recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-
its estimated recoverable amount. 
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The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs of disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of 
other assets or CGUs. 
 

one CGU. Corporate assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested 
for impairment as part of the testing of the CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated. 
 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of 
CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU 
(group of CGUs), and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group 
of CGUs) on a pro rata basis. 
 
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed 

have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
 

3.6 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short-term deposits with maturities of three 
months or less from the date of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term commitments. For 
the purpose of the statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that 

 
 

3.7 Fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities 
 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange-traded and 
over-the-counter securities and derivatives) is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. 
The quoted market prices used for financial assets are the current bid prices; the appropriate 
quoted market prices for financial liabilities are the current asking price.  
 
The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined by 
using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are 
based on market conditions existing at each reporting date. Where appropriate, quoted market 
prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used. 
 
The fair values of currency forwards, cross currency swaps and interest rate swaps are determined 
using actively quoted forward exchange and swap rates respectively.  The fair values of current 
financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts. 
 

3.8 Offsetting of financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement 
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to 
set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. 
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Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when it is required or permitted by the 
accounting standards - e.g. gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as 
the gains and losses on financial assets measured at FVTPL. 
 

3.9 Property and equipment 
 
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Such cost includes the 
cost that are directly attributable to the acquisition of a qualifying property, plant and equipment, 
and the estimated cost of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they 
are located when the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site. The cost of 
an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the 
related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. Subsequent to initial recognition, office 
equipment, furniture and fittings and right-of-use assets are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.  
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the 
asset (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount 
of the item) is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 
 
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term and their 
useful lives. Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are 
installed and ready for use. 
 
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows: 
 
 Office equipment 3 to 5 years 
 Furniture and fittings 3 to 5 years 
 Right-of-use assets 3 to 5 years 

 
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, 
at each reporting date to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent 
with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits 
embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment. The effects of any revision are recognised 
in profit or loss when the changes arise.  
 
Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been 
recognised is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance expenses are recognised in profit or loss 
when incurred. 
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3.10 Intangible assets 
 

3.10.1 Goodwill  
 
Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. For the 
measurement of goodwill on initial recognition, see Note 12. 
 

3.10.2 Subsequent measurement 
 
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of associates and 
joint ventures, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the 
investment, and an impairment loss on such an investment is not allocated to any asset, including 
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the associate and joint ventures. 
 

3.10.3 Computer software licenses 
 
Computer software licences comprise acquired computer software licences and internally 
developed computer software. 
 

3.10.4 Acquired computer software licences 
 
Acquired computer software licences are initially capitalised at cost which includes the purchase 
price (net of any discounts and rebates) and other directly attributable costs of preparing the asset 
for its intended use. Direct expenditure including employee costs, which enhance or extend the 
performance of computer software beyond its specifications and which can be reliably measured, 
are added to the original cost of the software. Costs associated with maintaining the computer 
software are expensed off when incurred. 
 
Computer software licences are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. These costs are amortised to profit or loss using the straight-line 
method over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years. 
 
The amortisation period of intangible assets are reviewed at least at each reporting date. The 
effects of any revision are recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise. 
 

3.10.5 Internally developed computer software 
 
Research costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. Costs directly attributable to the 
development of computer software are capitalised as intangible assets only when technical 
feasibility of the project is demonstrated, the Group has an intention and ability to complete and 
use the software and the costs can be measured reliably. Such costs include purchases of materials 
and services and payroll-related costs of employees directly involved in the project. 
 
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives 
of 3 to 5 years from the date that they are available for use.  
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3.10.6 Distribution rights 

 

partners. The cost is capitalised and amortised over the duration of the agreement and assessed 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired. The amortisation period 
and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each reporting date. Changes in the expected 
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the 
asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are 
treated as changes in accounting estimates. 
 
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values of all intangible assets are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period and adjusted if appropriate. 
 

3.10.7 Subsequent expenditure 
 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on 
internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 

3.11 Insurance and reinsurance contracts  
 

3.11.1 Insurance contracts issued  
 

3.11.1.1 Definition and classification  
 
Contracts under which the Group accepts significant insurance risk are classified as insurance 
contracts. Contracts held by the Group under which it transfers significant insurance risk related 
to underlying insurance contracts are classified as reinsurance contracts. Insurance and 
reinsurance contracts also expose the Group to financial risk. 
 
When identifying contracts in the scope of SFRS(I) 17, the Group have assessed whether a set or 
series of contracts needs to be treated as a single contract and whether embedded derivatives, 
investment components and goods and services components have to be separated and accounted 
for under another standard. The Group s do not include any significant distinct 
components that require separation.  
 
Some life contracts issued by the Group include a surrender option under which the surrender 
value is paid to the policyholder on maturity or earlier lapse of the contract. These surrender 
options have been assessed to meet the definition of a non-distinct investment component in 
SFRS(I) 17.  
 
SFRS(I) 17 defines investment components as the amounts that an insurance contract requires an 
insurer to repay to a policyholder in all circumstances, regardless of whether an insured event has 
occurred. Investment components which are highly interrelated with the insurance contract of 
which they form a part are considered non-distinct and are not separately accounted for. However, 
receipts and payments of the investment components are excluded from insurance revenue and 
insurance expenses. The surrender options are considered non distinct investment components as 
the Group is unable to measure the value of the surrender option component separately from the 
life insurance portion of the contract.   
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3.11.1.2 Level of aggregation 
 
The Group aggregates insurance contract issued into groups on initial recognition for 
measurement purposes. Groups of contracts are determined by first identifying portfolios of 
insurance contracts, each comprising contracts subject to similar risks and managed together. 
Each portfolio is then divided into annual cohorts (i.e. by year of issue) and each annual cohort 
into three profitability groupings:  
 
 any contracts that are onerous on initial recognition; 
 any contracts that, on initial recognition, have no significant possibility of becoming onerous 

subsequently; and 
 any remaining contracts in the annual cohort.  

 
These groups represent the level of aggregation at which insurance contracts are initially 
recognised and measured. The profitability groupings are not reassessed under subsequent 
measurement. 
 

3.11.1.3 Recognition  
 
An insurance contract issued by the Group is recognised from the earliest of: 
  
 the beginning of its coverage period (i.e. the period during which the Group provides services 

in respect of any premiums within the boundary of the contract (Note 3.11.1.4)); 
 when the first payment from the policyholder becomes due or, if there is no contractual due 

date, when it is received from the policyholder; and 
 when facts and circumstances indicate that the contract is onerous. 

 
When a contract is recognised, it is added to an existing group of contracts or, if the contract does 
not qualify for inclusion in an existing group, it forms a new group to which future contracts may 
be added.  
 

3.11.1.4 Contract Boundary  
 
The Group includes in the measurement of a group of insurance contracts all the future cash flows 
within the boundary of each contract in the group.  Cash flows are within the contract boundary 
if they arise from substantive rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which 
the Group can compel the policyholder to pay premiums or has a substantive obligation to provide 
services. A substantive obligation to provide services ends when:  
 
 the Group has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the particular policyholder and can 

set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects those reassessed risks; or  
 the Group has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the portfolio that contains the 

contract and can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects the risks of that portfolio, 
and the pricing of the premiums up to the reassessment date does not take into account risks 
that relate to periods after the reassessment date.  

 
Some term life and critical illness contracts issued by the Group have annual terms that are 
guaranteed to be renewable each year. Under SFRS(I) 17, the cash flows related to future renewals 
of these contracts are considered outside the contract boundary, to include the effect of changes 

 . 
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The contract boundary is assessed at inception, and only reassessed at the end of every reporting 
period to include the effect of changes in circumstances 
obligations. 
 

3.11.1.5 Measurement  
 
SFRS(I) 17 introduces a measurement model based on the estimates of the present value of future 
cash flows that are expected to arise as the Group fulfils the contracts, an explicit risk adjustment 
for non-financial risk and a CSM.  
 
Contracts are subject to different measurement requirements depending on whether they are 
classified as direct participating contracts or contracts without direct participation features. Direct 
participating contracts are contracts that are substantially investment-related service contracts 
under which the Group promises an investment return based on underlying items; they are 
contracts for which, at inception:  
 
 the contractual terms specify that the policyholder participates in a share of a clearly identified 

pool of underlying items; 
 the Group expects to pay to the policyholder an amount equal to a substantial share of the fair 

value returns on the underlying items; and 
 the Group expects a substantial proportion of any change in the amounts to be paid to the 

policyholder to vary with the change in fair value of the underlying items.  
 
The Group classifies Participating fund and Investment-linked products as direct participating 
contracts while other insurance contracts issued are classified as contracts without direct 
participation features. 
 
The Group has adopted GMM for contracts without direct participation features and VFA for 
contracts with direct participation features.  
 
The PAA is an optional simplified measurement model in SFRS(I) 17 that is available for 
insurance and reinsurance contracts that meet the eligibility criteria. The Group does not apply 
the PAA to any insurance contracts issued or reinsurance contracts held. 
 
Initial Measurement  
 
On initial recognition, the Group measures a group of insurance contracts as the total of:  
 
(a) fulfilment cash flows, comprising the best estimate of the present value of future cash flows 

within the contract boundary that are expected to arise and an explicit risk adjustment for 
non-financial risk, and  

(b) a contractual service margin 
 
Fulfilment cash flows 
 
Fulfilment cash flows comprise estimates of future cash flows, adjusted to reflect the time value 
of money and financial risks, and a risk adjustment for non-financial risk. In determining the 
fulfilment cash flows, the Group uses estimates and assumptions considering a range of scenarios 
which have commercial substance and give a fair representation of possible outcomes.   
 
The fulfilment cash flows of a group of contracts do not reflect the Group -performance risk. 
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The risk adjustment for non-financial risk for a group of contracts, determined separately from 
the other estimates, is the compensation that the Group requires for bearing uncertainty about the 
amount and timing of the cash flows that arises from non-financial risk. 
 
Further details of the related methodology and assumptions in respect of estimation of fulfilment 
cash flows are provided in Note 4.1. 
 
Contractual service margin 
 
The CSM of a group of contracts represents the unearned profit that the Group recognises as it 
provides services under those contracts.  
 
On initial recognition of a group of contracts, the group is not onerous if the total of the following 
is a net inflow:  
 
 the fulfilment cash flows;  
 any cash flows arising at that date; and  
 any amount arising from the derecognition of any assets or liabilities previously recognised 

for cash flows related to the group (including assets for insurance acquisition cash flows). 
 
A CSM is set up to fully offset the net inflow, and results in no impact on income on initial 
measurement. 
 
If the total is a net outflow, the group of contracts is considered to be onerous and the net outflow 
is generally recognised as a loss in profit or loss; a loss component is created to depict the amount 
of the net cash outflow, which determines the amounts that are subsequently presented in profit 
or loss as reversals of losses on onerous contracts and are excluded from insurance revenue. In 
the case of a business combination, the net outflow is recognised as an adjustment to goodwill or 
a gain on a bargain purchase for contracts acquired. 
 
For groups of contracts acquired in a transfer of contracts or business combination, the 
consideration received for contracts is included in the fulfilment cash flows as a proxy for the 
premiums received at the date of acquisition. In a business combination, the consideration 
received is the fair value of the contracts at that date. 
 
Insurance acquisition cash flows  
 
Insurance acquisition cash flows arise from the activities of selling, underwriting and starting a 
group of contracts that are directly attributable to the portfolio of contracts to which the group 
belongs. Under SFRS(I) 17, insurance acquisition cash flows are allocated to groups of contracts 
using systematic and rational methods.  
 
Insurance acquisition cash flows that are directly attributable to a group of contracts (e.g. non-
refundable commissions paid on issuance of a contract) are allocated only to that group and to the 
groups that will include renewals of those contracts. The allocation to renewals will only apply to 
certain health contracts that have a one-year coverage period. The Group expects to recover part 
of the related insurance acquisition cash flows through renewals of these contracts. The allocation 
to renewals will be based on the manner in which the Group expects to recover those cash flows. 
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Under SFRS(I) 17, only insurance acquisition cash flows that arise before the recognition of the 
related insurance contracts are recognised as separate assets and tested for recoverability, whereas 
other insurance acquisition cash flows are included in the estimates of the present value of future 
cash flows as part of the measurement of the related insurance contracts. The majority of the 
Group
contracts, as described above. These assets are presented in the same line item as the related 
portfolio of contracts and derecognised once the related group of contracts has been recognised.  
 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether facts and circumstances indicate that an asset 
for insurance acquisition cash flows may be impaired. If it is impaired, then the Group:  
 
(a) recognises an impairment loss in profit or loss so that the carrying amount of the asset does 

not exceed the expected net cash inflow for the related group; and 
(b) if the asset relates to future renewals, recognise an impairment loss in profit or loss to the 

extent that it expects those insurance acquisition cash flows to exceed the net cash inflow 
for the expected renewals and this excess has not already been recognised as an impairment 
loss under (a). 

 
The Group reverses any impairment losses in profit or loss and increase the carrying amount of 
the asset to the extent that the impairment conditions have improved. 
 
Subsequent measurement  
 
Subsequently, the carrying amount of a group of contracts without direct participating features at 
each reporting date is the sum of the liability for remaining coverage and the liability for incurred 
claims. The liability for remaining coverage comprises (a) the fulfilment cash flows that relate to 
services that will be provided under the contracts in future periods and (b) any remaining CSM at 
that date. The liability for incurred claims includes the fulfilment cash flows for incurred claims 
and expenses that have not yet been paid, including claims that have been incurred but not yet 
reported.  
 
 The fulfilment cash flows of groups of contracts are measured at the reporting date using 

current estimates of future cash flows, current discount rates and current estimates of the 
risk adjustment for non-financial risk. Changes in fulfilment cash flows are recognised as 
follows. 
 

Changes relating to future services Adjusted against the CSM (or recognised in 
the insurance service result in profit or loss 
if the group is onerous) 

Changes relating to current or past 
services 

Recognised in the insurance service result in 
profit or loss 

Effects of the time value of money, 
financial risk and changes therein on 
estimated future cash flows 

Recognised as insurance finance income or 
expenses 

 
 The CSM is adjusted subsequently only for changes in fulfilment cash flows that relate to 

future services and other specified amounts, i.e. the effect of any currency exchange 
differences on the CSM and is recognised in profit or loss as services are provided. The CSM 
at each reporting date represents the profit in the group of contracts that has not yet been 
recognised in profit or loss because it relates to future service. 
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When measuring a group of contracts with direct participation features, the Group adjusts the 
fulfilment cash flows for the changes in the obligation to pay policyholders an amount equal to 

. For those changes do not relate 
to future services will be recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The carrying amount of the CSM at each reporting date is the carrying amount at the start of the 
reporting period, adjusted mainly for: 
 
 the CSM of any new contracts that are added to the group in the period; 
 

changes in fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services, except to the extent that: 
-  of the fair value of the underlying items, or 

an increase in the fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services, exceeds the carrying 
amount of the CSM. The excess is recognised in insurance service expenses and 
recognised as a loss component in (Liabilities for Remaining Coverage) LRC; or 

- 
or a decrease in the fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services, which adjust the 
loss component in the LRC and the corresponding amount is recognised in insurance 
service expenses. If the loss component is reduced to zero, the excess reinstates the CSM 

 the effect of any currency exchange differences on the CSM; and 
 the amount recognised as insurance revenue for the services provided in the period 
 the changes in fulfilment cash flows not varying based on the return on underlying items that 

relate to future services include the effect of the time value of money and financial risks that 
do not arise from underlying items  e.g. the effect of financial guarantees. 

 
Onerous contracts  Loss component 
 
When adjustments to the CSM exceed the amount of the CSM, the group of contracts becomes 
onerous and the Group recognises the excess in insurance service expenses, and it records the 
excess as a loss component of the LRC. 
 
When a loss component exists, the Group allocates the following between the loss component and 
the remaining component of the LRC for the respective group of contracts, based on the ratio of 
the loss component to the FCF relating to the expected future cash outflows: 
 
(a) expected incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses for the period; 
(b) changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk for the risk expired; and 
(c) finance income (expenses) from insurance contracts issued. 
 
The amounts of the loss component allocation in (a) and (b) above reduce the respective 
components of insurance revenue and are reflected in insurance service expenses. 
 
Decreases in the FCF in subsequent periods reduce the remaining loss component and reinstate 
the CSM after the loss component is reduced to zero. Increases in the FCF in subsequent periods 
increase the loss component. 
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3.11.1.6 Derecognition and contract modification 
 
An insurance contract is derecognised when it is: 
 
 extinguished (that is, when the obligation specified in the insurance contract expires or is 

discharged or cancelled); or 
 the contract is modified and certain additional criteria discussed below are met  

 
When an insurance contract is modified by the Group as a result of an agreement with the 
counterparties or due to a change in regulations, the Group treats changes in cash flows caused by 
the modification as changes in estimates of the FCF, unless conditions for the derecognition of 
the original contract are met. The Group derecognises the original contract and recognises the 
modified contract as a new contract if any of the following conditions are present: 
 
(a) if the modified terms had been included at contract inception and the Group would have 

concluded that the modified contract: 
(i) is not within the scope of SFRS(I) 17; 
(ii) results in different separable components; 
(iii) results in a different contract boundary; or 
(iv) belongs to a different group of contracts.  

 
(b) the original contract represents an insurance contract with direct participation features, but 

the modified contract no longer meets that definition, or vice versa. 
 
When a new contract is required to be recognised as a result of modification and it is within the 
scope of SFRS(I) 17, the new contract is recognised from the date of modification and is assessed 
for, amongst other things, contract classification, including the VFA eligibility, component 
separation requirements and contract aggregation requirements. 
 
On derecognition of a contract from within a group of contracts: 
 
(a) the fulfilment cash flows allocated to the group of contracts are adjusted to eliminate those 

that relate to the rights and obligations derecognised; 
(b) adjusts the CSM (unless the decrease in the FCF is allocated to the loss component of the 

LRC of the group) in the following manner, depending on the reason for the derecognition: 
(i) if the contract is extinguished, in the same amount as the adjustment to the FCF relating 

to future services; 
(ii) if the contract is transferred to a third party, in the amount of the FCF adjustment in (a) 

less the premium charged by the third party; or 
(iii) if the original contract is modified resulting in its derecognition, in the amount of the 

FCF adjustment in (a) adjusted for the premium that the Group would have charged if 
it had entered into a contract with equivalent terms as the new contract at the date of 
the contract modification, less any additional premium charged for the modification; 
when recognising the new contract in this case, the Group assumes such a hypothetical 
premium as actually received; and 

(c) the number of coverage units for the expected remaining services is adjusted to reflect the 
coverage units derecognised from the group of contracts. 
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3.11.2 Reinsurance contracts held 
 
For groups of reinsurance contracts held, the Group applies the same accounting policies as that 
applied to insurance contracts without participating features, with the following considerations. 
 
Definition and classification 
 
Some reinsurance contracts issued contain profit commission arrangements. Under these 
arrangements where there is no other condition restricting the payment of profit commission, there 
is a minimum guaranteed amount that the policyholder will always receive  either in the form of 
profit commission, or as claims, or another contractual payment irrespective of the insured event 
happening. The profit commission components have been assessed to be highly interrelated with 
the insurance component of the reinsurance contracts and are, therefore, non-distinct investment 
components which are not accounted for separately. However, receipts and payments of these 
investment components are recognised outside of profit or loss. 
 
Level of aggregation 
 
Groups of reinsurance contracts are established by the Group in a similar manner as underlying 
insurance contracts. Portfolios of reinsurance contracts held are assessed for aggregation 
separately from portfolios of insurance contracts issued. 
 
Recognition 
 
A group of reinsurance contracts is recognised on the following date: 
 
 Reinsurance contracts initiated by the Group that provide proportionate coverage: The later 

of the beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts, and the date on 
which any underlying insurance contract is initially recognised. 

 Other (non-proportionate) reinsurance contracts initiated by the Group: The beginning of the 
coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts or the recognition date of an underlying 
onerous group of insurance contracts issued.  

 
Contract Boundary 
 
The reinsurance cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from substantive rights 
and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Group has a substantive 
obligation to pay premiums to the reinsurer or has a substantive right to receive services from the 
reinsurer.  
 
A substantive obligation to pay premiums to the reinsurer ends when the Group has a substantive 
right to terminate the coverage: 
 
 without requirement of repayment of any recapture fee; and 
 not upon any conditions due to action performed by the reinsurer or other conditions out of 

the Group  
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A substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer ends when the reinsurer:  
 
 has the practical ability to reassess the risks transferred to it and can set a price or level of 

benefits that fully reflects those reassessed risks; or  
 has a substantive right to terminate the coverage.  

 
Some of the Group
the annual term on a risk-attaching basis and provide unilateral rights to both the Group and the 
reinsurer to terminate the attachment of new underlying contracts at any time by giving three 

expected to be issued and ceded after the measurement date, in addition to those arising from 
underlying contracts already ceded, are within the boundaries of the reinsurance contracts and 
have been considered and estimated in their measurement. 
 
Measurement 
 
All reinsurance contracts held are classified as contracts without direct participation features and 
are measured using GMM. 
 
The carrying amount of a group of reinsurance contracts at each reporting date is the sum of the 
asset for remaining coverage and the asset for incurred claims. The asset for remaining coverage 
comprises (a) the fulfilment cash flows that relate to services that will be received under the 
contracts in future periods and (b) any remaining CSM at that date. 
 
The Group measures the estimates of the present value of future cash flows using assumptions 
that are consistent with those used to measure the estimates of the present value of future cash 
flows for the underlying insurance contracts, with an adjustment for any risk of non-performance 
by the reinsurer. The effect of the non-performance risk of the reinsurer is assessed at each 
reporting date and the effect of changes in the non-performance risk is recognised in the 
reinsurance finance income and expense in profit or loss. 
 
The risk adjustment for non-financial risk will represent the amount of risk being transferred by 
the Group to the reinsurer. 
 
On initial recognition, the CSM of a group of reinsurance contracts represents a net cost or net 
gain on purchasing reinsurance. It is measured as the equal and opposite amount of the total of 
(a) the fulfilment cash flows, (b) any amount arising from the derecognition of any assets or 
liabilities previously recognised for cash flows related to the group, (c) any cash flows arising at 
that date and (d) any income recognised in profit or loss because of onerous underlying contracts 
recognised at that date such that no income or expense arises on initial recognition, except that 
the Group: 
 
 recognised any net cost on purchasing reinsurance coverage immediately in profit or loss as 

an expense if it relates to insured events that occurred before the purchase of the group; and 
 recognised income when it recognised a loss on initial recognition of onerous underlying 

contracts if the reinsurance contract is entered into before or at the same time as the 
onerous underlying contracts are recognised. A loss-recovery component is created, which 
determines the amounts that are subsequently disclosed as reversals of recoveries of losses 
from the reinsurance contracts and are excluded from the allocation of reinsurance premiums 
paid. 
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The CSM is adjusted subsequently only for specified amounts and is recognised in profit or loss 
as services are received. 
 
Reinsurance contracts held are subject to the same modification and derecognition requirements 
as insurance contracts, described in note 3.11.1.6. 
 

3.11.3 Insurance service result  
 
SFRS(I) 17 has significantly changed how insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts are 
presented and disclosed in the Group  
 
The Group disaggregates the recognition of (a) an insurance service result, comprising insurance 
revenue and insurance service expenses; and (b) net income or expense from reinsurance contracts 
held and (c) insurance finance income or expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
The Group has presented the carrying amount of portfolios of insurance contracts issued and 
reinsurance contracts held that are in asset and liability position in the consolidated statements of 
financial position. All rights and obligations arising from a portfolio of contracts are presented on 
a net basis; therefore, balances such as insurance receivables and payables and policyholder loans 
are no longer be presented separately. Any assets or liabilities recognised for cash flows arising 
before the recognition of the related group of contracts (including any assets for insurance 
acquisition cash flows) are presented in the same line item as the related portfolios of contracts. 
 
The Group disaggregates changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk between the 
insurance service result and insurance finance income or expenses in the following manner: 
 
 Changes in risk adjustment for risk expired are included in the insurance service result, and 
 Changes in the risk adjustment for the effect of the time value of money and changes in the 

time value of money are included in the insurance finance income or expenses. 
 
Insurance revenue 
 
Insurance revenue for each year represents the changes in the liabilities for remaining coverage 
that relate to services for which the Group expects to receive consideration and comprises the 
following items. 
 
 a release of the CSM, measured based on coverage units provided.  
 changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk relating to current services, excluding: 

- changes included in insurance finance income or expense; and 
- amount allocated to the loss component 

 claims and other insurance service expenses incurred in the year, generally measured at the 
amounts expected at the beginning of the year. This includes amounts arising from the 
derecognition of any assets for cash flows other than insurance acquisition cash flows at the 
date of initial recognition of a group of contracts, which are recognised as insurance revenue 
and insurance service expenses at that date. 

 other amounts, including experience adjustments for premium receipts for current or past 
services. 
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In addition, the Group allocates a portion of premiums that relate to recovering insurance 
acquisition cash flows to each period in a systematic way based on the passage of time.  
 
Insurance service expense 
 
Expenses that relate directly to the fulfilment of contracts are recognised in profit or loss as 
insurance service expenses, generally when they are incurred. Expenses that do not relate directly 
to the fulfilment of contracts are presented outside the insurance service result. They exclude 
repayments of investment components and comprise the following items. 
 
 Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses 
 Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows which is equal to the amount of insurance 

revenue recognised in the year that relates to recovering insurance acquisition cash flows. 
 Losses on onerous contracts and reversals of such losses. 
 Adjustments to the liabilities for incurred claims that do not arise from the effects of the time 

value of money, financial risk and changes therein. 
 Impairment losses on assets for insurance acquisition cash flows and reversals of such 

impairment losses, if any.   
 

3.11.4 Net income or expense from reinsurance contracts held 
 
The Group presents financial performance of groups of reinsurance contracts held on a net basis 
in net gain (cost) from reinsurance contracts held, comprising the following amounts in profit or 
loss: 
 
 allocation of reinsurance premiums paid 
 amounts recovered from reinsurers for incurred claims 

 
The allocation of reinsurance premiums paid relating to services received for each period 
represents the total of the changes in the asset for remaining coverage that relate to services for 
which the Group expects to pay consideration. For a group of reinsurance contracts covering 
onerous underlying contracts, the Group establishes a loss-recovery component of the asset for 
remaining coverage to depict the recovery of losses recognised: 
 
 on recognition of onerous underlying contracts, if the reinsurance contract covering those 

contracts is entered into before or at the same time as those contracts are recognised; and 
 for changes in fulfilment cash flows of the group of reinsurance contracts relating to future 

services that result from changes in fulfilment cash flows of the onerous underlying contracts. 
 
The loss-recovery component determines the amounts that are subsequently presented in profit or 
loss as reversals of recoveries of losses from the reinsurance contracts and are excluded from the 
allocation of reinsurance premiums paid. It is adjusted to reflect changes in the loss component 
of the onerous group of underlying contracts, but it cannot exceed the portion of the loss 
component of the onerous group of underlying contracts that the Group expects to recover from 
the reinsurance contracts. 
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3.11.5 Net insurance finance income or expenses 
 
Net insurance finance income or expenses consists of insurance finance income or expense and 
reinsurance finance income or expense. Both comprise changes in the carrying amounts of groups 
of insurance and reinsurance contracts arising from: (a) the effect of the time value of money and 
changes in the time value of money; and (b) the effect of financial risk and changes in financial 
risk.  The changes in the measurement of groups of contracts caused by changes in the value of 
underlying items (excluding additions and withdrawals) is included. 
 
The Group presents insurance finance income or expenses in profit or loss, considering that the 
supporting assets are measured at FVTPL. 

3.11.6 Transition 
 

continue to impact a significant part of how the CSM balance as at 31 December 2024 and 31 
December 2023 has been determined. The accounting policies for how the CSM on the date of 
transition was determined for groups measured applying the modified retrospective approach and 
the fair value approach are summarized below. 

3.11.7 Modified retrospective approach  
 
The Group has applied MRA for certain groups of insurance contracts and reinsurance contract 
from the 2021 cohort and assets for insurance acquisition cash flows during the transition from 
SFRS(I) 4 to SFRS(I) 17.  
 
The objective of the MRA is to achieve the closest possible outcome to retrospective application 
possible using reasonable and supportable information available without undue cost or effort. The 
Group chooses to apply each of the following modifications only to the extent that it does not 
have reasonable and supportable information to apply SFRS(I) 17 retrospectively: 
 
 Estimated future cash flows at the date of initial recognition as the amount of the future cash 

flows at transition date, adjusted by the cash flows that have occurred between the date of 
initial recognition and the transition date. The cash flows that are known to have occurred 
include cash flows resulting from contracts that ceased to exist before the transition date  

 Estimated the risk adjustment for non-financial risk at the date of initial recognition by 
adjusting the risk adjustment at transition date by the expected release of risk in the periods 
before transition. The expected release of risk was determined with reference to the release 
of risk for similar contracts that the Group has issued subsequent to the transition date  

 
The CSM at transition date has been further determined by:  
 
 Using the discount rates determined on initial recognition to accrete interest on the CSM. 
 Applying the amount of the CSM recognised in profit or loss because of the transfer of 

services before the transition date, by comparing the remaining coverage units at that date 
with the coverage units provided under the group of contracts before the transition date.  
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3.11.8 Fair value approach  
 
The Group has applied FVA for its remaining insurance contracts and reinsurance contract. Under 
the FVA, the CSM at the transition date was the difference between the fair value of the insurance 
contracts, determined in accordance with SFRS(I) 13 Fair Value Measurement, and the fulfilment 

 
 
SFRS(I) 13 defines fair value of insurance contracts has been determined as the present value of 
best estimate expected future cash flows plus an additional amount representing compensation a 
market participant would require to enter into a transaction to transfer the liability associated with 
the insurance contracts at the transition date. The return required by a market participant includes 
an allowance for both financial risk and uncertainty in non-financial risk. 
 
The fair value has been based on the same scope of cash flows as are included in the calculation 
of the best estimate liability. In particular, the same contract boundaries are assumed in the 
calculation of the fair value and best estimate liability. However, the measurement of those cash 
flows need not be the same. 
 
A number of specific modifications are permitted under the FVA. The Group has adopted the 
following modifications: 
 
 To use information at the transition date to identify groups of insurance contracts; 
 To use information at the transition date to assess eligibility for the VFA; 
 To use information at the transition date to identify discretionary cash flows; 
 To use information at the transition date to assess whether a contract meets the definition of 

an investment contract with DPF; and 
 To group annual cohorts of business.  

 
 

3.12 Other revenue recognition  
 

3.12.1 Investment income 
 
Investment income comprises of dividend and interest income from financial assets and interest 
income on loans and bank deposits. 
 
Dividend income on securities is 
established. 
 
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 
 

3.12.2 Realised gains and losses  
 
Realised gains and losses on the sale of investments are calculated as the difference between net 
sales proceeds and the carrying amounts. Realised gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 
when the sale transaction occurs. 
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3.13 Tax 

 
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in 
profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to a business combination, or items recognised 
directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 
 
The Group has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain 
tax treatments, do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accounted for them under 
SFRS(I) 1-37 Provisions, Contingent liabilities and Contingent Assets. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best 
estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to 
income taxes, if any. Current tax also includes any tax arising from dividends. 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.  
 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
Deferred tax is not recognised for temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or 
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting 
nor taxable profit or loss. 
 
The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in 
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the tax rates and tax laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date, and reflects uncertainty related 
to income taxes, if any. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the 
same taxable entity. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of 
relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is 
insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for 
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for the 
Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed 
when the probability of future taxable profits improves. 
 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be 
used. 
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3.14 Employee benefits 

 
3.14.1 Defined contribution plans 

 
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an 
employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which related services are 
rendered by employees. 
 

3.14.2 Employee leave entitlement 
 
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A 
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the reporting date. 
 

3.14.3 Termination benefits 
 
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Group is committed demonstrably, 
without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate 
employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of 
an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary 
redundancies are recognised as an expense if the Group has made an offer of voluntary 
redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be 
estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the reporting date, then they 
are discounted to their present value. 
 

3.14.4 Share-based payment transactions 
 
The grant date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment awards granted to employee is 
recognised as an employee benefit expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the 
number of awards for which the service and non-market performance conditions are expected to 
be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of 
awards that meet the service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. For 
share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the share- 
based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences 
between expected and actual outcomes. 
 
The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of share appreciation rights, which 
are settled in cash, is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over 
the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is 
remeasured at each reporting date and at settlement date based on the fair value of the share 
appreciation rights. Any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognised as employee 
benefit expense in profit or loss. 
 

3.14.5 Short-term employee benefits 
 
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed 
as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid 
under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the 
obligation can be estimated reliably. 
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3.15 Provisions 

 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of a past event, it is more likely than not that an outflow of economic resources will be required 
to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation has been estimated reliably. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If 
it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the 
obligation, the provision is reversed. 
 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. 
 

3.16 Leases 
 
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract 
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for 
a period of time in exchange for consideration.  
 

3.16.1 As a lessee 
 
At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative 
stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of property the Group has elected not to separate non-
lease components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease 
component. 
 
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease 
liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any 
initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset 
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives 
received. 
 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the 
underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset 
reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be 
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as 
those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid 
at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate 

 borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses 
its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 
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various external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease 
and type of the asset leased. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 
 
 fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 
 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index 

or rate as at the commencement date; 
 amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 
 the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, 

lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an 
extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably 
certain not to terminate early. 

 
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or 

pected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a 
purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 
 
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 
 
The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in 

position. 
 

3.16.2 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities leases of low-value 
assets and short-term leases, including IT equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments 
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 

3.17  
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 
 

 
 
 

4 Significant accounting judgements and estimates 
 
Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made in the preparation of the 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on 
an on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Please see Note 24 on 
the valuation of financial instruments. Other significant accounting judgements and estimates 
used in this report are: 
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4.1 Insurance Contracts Measurement  

 
4.1.1 Estimates of future cash flows 

 
In estimating future cash flows, the Group incorporates, in an unbiased way, all reasonable and 
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date. This 
information includes both internal and external historical data about claims and other experience, 
updated to reflect current expectations of future events.  
 

reporting date, as long as the estimates of any relevant market variables are consistent with 
observable market prices. 
 
 
When estimating future cash flows, the Group takes into account current expectations of future 
events that might affect those cash flows. However, expectations of future changes in legislation 
that would change or discharge a present obligation or create new obligations under existing 
contracts will not be taken into account until the change in legislation is substantively enacted. 
 
Cash flows within the boundary of a contract are those that relate directly to the fulfilment of the 
contract, including those for which the Group has discretion over the amount or timing. These 
include payments to (or on behalf of) policyholders, insurance acquisition cash flows and other 
costs that are incurred in fulfilling contracts.  
 
Insurance acquisition cash flows and other costs that are incurred in fulfilling contracts comprise 
both direct costs and an allocation of fixed and variable overheads. 
 
Cash flows are attributed to acquisition activities, other fulfilment activities and other activities 
at local entity level using activity-based costing techniques. Cash flows attributable to acquisition 
and other fulfilment activities are allocated to groups of contracts using methods that are 
systematic and rational and are consistently applied to all costs that have similar characteristics. 
The Group generally allocates insurance acquisition cash flows to groups of contracts based on 
premiums and number of new business contracts for each group, claims handling costs based on 
the claims amount incurred for each group, and maintenance and administration costs based on 
premiums and number of in-force contracts in each group. 
 
The terms of some contracts measured under the GMM give the Group discretion over the cash 
flows to be paid to the policyholders, either in timing or amount. Changes in discretionary cash 
flows are regarded as relating to future service and accordingly adjust the CSM. The Group 
determines how to identify a change in discretionary cash flows by specifying the basis on which 
it expects to determine its commitment under the contract; for example, based on a fixed interest 
rate, or on returns that vary based on specified asset returns. This determination is specified at the 
inception of the contract. 
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4.1.3 Risk adjustments for non-financial risk 
 
Risk adjustments for non-financial risk are determined to reflect the compensation that the Group 
would require for bearing non-financial risk and its degree of risk aversion. They are determined 
separately for the Life and Non-life contracts by contract level. They reflect the effects of the 
diversification benefits between different lines of business, which are determined using a 
correlation matrix technique. 
 
The risk adjustments for non-financial risk are determined using a confidence level technique. To 
determine the risk adjustments for non-financial risk for reinsurance contracts, the Group applies 
the same approach used for the underlying contracts on the cash flows attributable to reinsurance. 
 
Applying a confidence level technique, the Group estimates the probability distribution of the 
expected present value of the future cash flows from the contracts at each reporting date and 
calculate the risk adjustment for non-financial risk as the excess of the value at risk at the target 
confidence level over the expected present value of the future cash flows allowing for the 
associated risks over all future years. The target confidence level is 75 percent for Non-life, Group 
business, Accident and Health contracts and 80 percent for Life contracts. 
 

4.1.4 Coverage units 
 
The CSM of a group of contracts is recognised in profit or loss to reflect services provided in each 
year, by identifying the coverage units in the group, allocating the CSM remaining at the end of 
the year (before any allocation) equally to each coverage unit provided in the year and expected 
to be provided in future years, and recognising in profit or loss the amount of the CSM allocated 
to coverage units provided in the year. The number of coverage units is the quantity of services 
provided by the contracts in the group, determined by considering for each contract the quantity 
of the benefits provided and its expected coverage period. The coverage units are reviewed and 
updated at each reporting date. 
 
In general, the Group determines the quantity of the benefits provided under each contract as 
follows. 
 

Product Basis for determining quantity of benefits provided 
 Term life 
 Non-participating 

whole-life 

 Sum assured payable on death 

 Additional critical 
illness and other 
coverage 

 Maximum amount payable (including any premiums waived) 
upon the insured event 

 Annuity  Maximum amount (death benefit or annuity payment) 
payable in the period 

* For deferred annuity, the quantity during accumulation 
phase shall be death benefit. 

 Universal life 
 Traditional 

participating 
 Unit-linked and other 

investment-linked 

 Insurance coverage: net amount at risk (i.e. guaranteed 
minimum benefits less account value), if any 

 Investment services: account value 
* For traditional participating, the amount is inclusive of 

bonus payable. 
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Product Basis for determining quantity of benefits provided 
 Non-life 
 Group business 
 Accident and Health 

 Passage of time (i.e. akin to the premium earned pattern) 

 Quota share 
reinsurance 

 The same basis as the underlying contracts, including 
expected new underlying contracts within the reinsurance 
contract boundary  

 Excess of loss and stop 
loss reinsurance 

 Passage of time (i.e. akin to the premium earned pattern) 

 
For insurance contracts that provide both insurance coverage and investment services, the quantity 
of benefits used to reflect the services provided is the aggregation of those different benefits, with 
the relative weighting of the benefits provided over the coverage period. 
 

4.1.5 Process used to determine assumptions for the valuation of insurance contracts 
 
Methodology and assumptions 
 
Economic assumptions are continually reviewed and updated. Non-economic assumptions are 
reviewed at least annually. Non-economic assumptions are presented to the Assumptions 

the valuation of the liabilities.  
 
The methodology used for the key assumptions are highlighted below: 
 
Mortality and morbidity rates and ultimate claim cost 
 
Mortality and morbidity assumptions will have regard to the 
experience and rates recommended by reinsurers, where available, and are generally differentiated 
by sex and policy type.  
 
Ultimate claims costs for short term insurance are projected through the use of generally accepted 
actuarial techniques namely, the Chain Ladder and Bornhuetter Ferguson methods.  
 
Valuation interest rates 
 
The valuation interest rate assumption is the underlying interest rate at which future cash flows 
are discounted in determining fulfilment cash flows where future expected cash flows are 
discounted at risk-free rates.  
 
Expenses and commission rates 
 
Expense studies are conducted regularly and the expense assumptions will reflect both the 

actual expenses as well as budgeted expenses based on the business plan. Any 
recommendations resulting from these studies will be reflected in the valuation of fulfilment cash 
flows subject to the approval of the Assumption Committee.  
 
Commission rates are assumed to be the same as those contracted with the various channels.  
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Surrender rates 
 
Surrender rates assumed in the calculation of fulfilment cash flows will reflect the 
historical experience and are differentiated by duration in-force and policy type. 
 
Bonus rates 
 
Risk neutral bonus rates applied is calibrated based on market variables using stochastic 
modelling techniques, assuming that asset share grows at risk-free aligning to valuation interest 
rates. 
 
Inflation rates 
 
Inflation rates assumption is set to reflect long-term inflation expectations, allowing for the 
proportion of staff and non-staff expenses. 
Key assumptions used by the Group for the valuation of its insurance contracts are described 
below: 
 
Mortality The Group 

which is an established credibility based statistical method. The 
methodology assumptions are thus set by blending the 
own experience (internal table) and external view (prior table) 
using weights (or credibility factors) derived based on size of 

 
 
An allowance is made for expected improvement in mortality. 

 
Morbidity Morbidity assumptions are set by blending the own 

experience (internal table) and external view (prior table) using 

exposure. 
 
Medical inflation was allowed for certain line of business. 

 
Ultimate claim cost The principal assumption underlying the Chain Ladder method 

is that the development of historical claims pattern will be 
expected to continue in the future. 
 

   The assumptions underlying the Bornhuetter Ferguson method is 
that the development of historical claims pattern will be 
expected to continue in the future and the assumed loss ratios 
are reflective of future claims experience.  

 
Risk-free discount rate     Derived based observed government bond yields with 

application of Smith-Wilson method, which is commonly used 
to extrapolate interest rates from last liquidity point using a 
predetermined ultimate forward rates. Illiquidity premium 
allowance is applicable depending on the illiquidity 
characteristics of the liability cash flows.  
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Persistency Based on persistency study of the past experience. 
 

Acquisition/Maintenance 
expenses and expense 
attributability ratio 

Based on past actual experience, expressed as unit costs per in-
force policy and percentage of premiums.  
 
Expense attributability ratio is then being derived as a 
percentage of the unit costs. 

 
Distribution expenses Based on past actual experience, expressed as unit costs per 

percentage of premiums.   
Expense inflation rate The allowance of the expected long term expenses inflation is 

taken into consideration. 
 

 
4.2 Income taxes 

 
Significant judgement is required in determining the capital allowances and deductibility of 
certain expenses during the estimation of the provision for income taxes. There are many 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 
ordinary course of business. The Group recognised liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on 
its understanding of the current tax legislation and estimates of whether additional taxes will be 
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period 
in which such determination is made. 
 

4.3 Goodwill  
 
The determination of the fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
involves significant judgement and estimation. In 2020, the excess of the purchase consideration 
over the fair value of net assets acquired is recognised as provisional goodwill. In 2021, the Group 
reviewed the fair value of net assets acquired during the measurement period. As a result of new 
information obtained within one year of the date of acquisition about facts and circumstances that 
existed at the date of acquisition, management has identified adjustments to the above amounts, 
as well as additional provisions that existed at the date of acquisition.  
 

4.4 Impairment of investment in associates 
 
Impairment testing for investment in associate requires significant judgments and estimates to be 
made. If there is an indication of impairment in respect of the Group's investment in associate, the 
whole carrying value of the investment will be tested for impairment as a single asset under 
SFRS(I) 1-36 by comparing the recoverable amount with its carrying value using equity method, 
and any resulting impairment loss will be charged against the carrying value of investment in 
associate. As at 31 December 2024, there is no objective evidence that the investment in associate 
is impaired. 
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4.5 Measurement of fair values 

 
The valuation techniques used for measuring the fair value of material assets acquired were as 
follows: 
 

  
Distribution rights Multi- : The MEEM 

considers the present value of net cash flows expected to be generated 
by the customer relationships, by excluding any cash flows related to 
contributory assets. 
 

 

5 Segment information 
 

The companies within the Group is generally divided into 2 reportable segments, as follows:  
 

 Insurance segment, which focus on transacting both general and life insurance businesses 
 Non-insurance segment, which comprises mainly of provision of financial advisory services, 

investment advisory services and investment portfolio administration. 
 

During the year, the performances of the subsidiaries were still monitored and managed by the 
respective management teams. Similarly, all financing (including finance costs, finance income 
and other income) and income taxes are managed separately by the respective management teams. 
Therefore, there are no assets or liabilities management centrally on a group basis. 
 

-length basis in a manner similar to 
transactions with third parties. Inter-segment revenues are eliminated upon consolidation and 

djustments and eliminations 
are part of detailed reconciliations presented further below: 
 

Insurance Non-insurance Total segments 

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations Consolidated 
      
Group      
2024      
Insurance revenue      
External customers 1,281,251  1,281,251  1,281,251 
Net commissions income      
External customers   3,001   3,001   3,001 
Inter-segment  88,385 88,385 (88,385)  
Total  1,281,251 91,386 1,372,637 (88,385) 1,284,252 
      
Income/(expense)      
Depreciation and 
amortisation  (8,015) (8,015) (52,876) (60,891) 
Net investment income (3,998)   30,998   27,000  (8,906) 18,094 
Insurance service expenses  (1,156,374)  (1,156,374) 20,074 (1,136,300) 
Net expense from 
reinsurance contracts held  22,621  22,621  22,621 
Other operating expenses   (49,815) (118,176) (167,991)  8,619 (159,372) 
Segment gains/(losses)   93,685 (3,807)    89,878  (121,474) (31,596) 
      
Total assets 16,205,294 3,522,843 19,728,137 (2,972,942) 16,755,195 
Total liabilities 15,434,921 683,322 16,118,243 (152,035) 15,966,208 
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Insurance 
Non-

insurance 
Total 

segments 

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations Consolidated 
      
Group      
2023       
Insurance revenue      
External customers 1,100,850  1,100,850  1,100,850 
Net commissions income      
External customers  7,762 7,762  7,762 
Inter-segment  97,925 97,925 (97,925)  
Total  1,100,850 105,687 1,206,537 (97,925) 1,108,612 
      
Income/(expenses)      
Depreciation and 
amortisation  (7,962) (7,962) (52,699) (60,661) 
Net investment income 84,249 65,035 149,284 (51,901) 97,383 
Insurance service expenses (1,049,710)  (1,049,710) 22,105 (1,027,605) 
Net expense from 
reinsurance contracts held 24,039  24,039  24,039 
Other operating expenses (84,608) (81,608) (166,216) 120 (166,096) 
Segment gains/(losses) 74,820 81,152 155,972 (180,300) (24,328) 
      
Total assets 14,002,933 3,558,387 17,561,320 (2,872,620) 14,688,700 
Total liabilities 13,316,852 630,920 13,947,772 (131,182) 13,816,590 
      
The segments above only include operating entities, as the Group is solely a financial holding 
company with no other business operations, its performance have not been included above. As 
there are no revenue or expense items managed centrally or allocated out to the companies of 
the Group, no reconciliation was performed. 
 
Geographic information 
 
 2024 2023 
   
Insurance service revenue from external customers   
Singapore 1,269,912 1,092,328 
Philippines 11,339 8,522 
Total 1,281,251 1,100,850 
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6 Insurance revenue 
 
An analysis of insurance revenue is included in the following table. Additional information on 
amounts recognised in profit or loss is included in the insurance contract balances reconciliations 
below in Note 19. 
 2024 2023 
   
Insurance revenue   

 
CSM recognised in profit or loss because of the transfer of services  228,251 242,187 
Change in risk adjustment for non-financial risk for risk expired 78,325 67,957 
Expected incurred claims and other insurance service expenses 851,795 702,472 
Recovery of insurance acquisition cash flows 122,880 88,234 

Total insurance revenue 1,281,251 1,100,850 

  
 

7 Net financial result 
 
Analysis of total investment return and insurance financial results recognised in profit or loss: 
 

 2024 2023 
   
 Total Total  
Investment income   
   
Amounts recognised in profit or loss   
Dividend income from equity investments mandatorily measured at 

FVTPL 54,156 47,408 
Interest income from:   
- Corporate bonds: 129,806 98,807 

- FVTPL mandatorily 16,208 7,351 
- Designated at FVTPL 113,598 91,456 

- Government and public authority securities designated at FVTPL 82,279 61,778 
- Bank deposits measured at amortised cost 7,277 2,522 
Net foreign exchange (expense)/income 7,941 (3,387) 
Other investment income 16,913 11,884 
Net interest expense on derivatives financial assets/liabilities (35,662) (34,720) 
 262,710 184,292 
Net realised loss on sale of investments at FVTPL 481,793 (30,361) 

- FVTPL mandatorily 477,379 (2,304) 
- Designated at FVTPL 4,414 (28,057) 

Net fair value gain/(loss) on investments at FVTPL 143,503 360,236 
- FVTPL mandatorily 9,484 285,797 
- Designated at FVTPL 134,019 74,439 

Net realised gain on derivatives mandatorily at FVTPL  37,013 102,696 
Net fair value loss on derivatives mandatorily at FVTPL (393,964) (25,857) 
Total investment return 531,055 591,006 
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 2024 2023 
   
 Total Total  
Net finance (expenses)/income from insurance contracts issued   
Changes in value of underlying assets of contracts under VFA (421,043) (476,797) 
Interest accreted  (60,322) (48,142) 
Effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions (89,870) 103,293 
Net foreign exchange income (8,814) 6,085 
Net finance expenses from insurance contracts issued (580,049) (415,561) 
   
Net finance (expenses)/income from reinsurance contracts issued    
Interest accreted   17,717  18,552 
Effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions 31,496  (40,964) 
Effects of changes in non-performance risk of reinsurers  6,569 (46,724) 
Net foreign exchange expenses  11,306  (8,926) 
Net finance income/(expenses) from reinsurance contracts issued  67,088 (78,062) 
    
Net financial result 18,094 97,383 
   
 

8 Expenses  
 
Insurance service expenses and other operating expenses comprise the following: 
 
  2024 2023 
    
Group    
Claims and benefits  737,129 614,994 
Fee and commissions  435,987 328,518 
Losses on onerous insurance contracts  18,630 85,277 
Investment expense  24,438 22,829 
Employee benefits    
- Salaries, bonuses and other employee benefits  170,768 184,798 
- Central Provident Fund contributions  16,464 14,120 
- Share-based payments expenses  (16,324) 1,717 
Depreciation of plant and equipment   14,876 15,252 
Amortisation of intangible assets  77,246 69,632 
Financing costs  19,467 19,414 
Interest expense on lease liabilities  715 944 
Advertising and promotion expenses  16,726 20,401 

    
- auditors of the Group  3,773 4,566 
Bank charges  339 206 

  1,948 3,607 
Donations and sponsorships  883 564 
Licence fees  4,204 7,298 
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  2024 2023 
    
Group    
Non-audit fees:    
- auditors of the Group  405  147 
Postage, courier and telex charges  3,027 3,877 
Printing and stationery  645 1,444 
Professional fees  39,178  43,704 
Recharges from related companies  6,783 992 
Recharges from subsidiaries  8,616  
Repairs and maintenance expenses  31,595 31,166 
Sales incentives  74,454 39,246 
Transaction processing fees  5,043 7,379 
Other expenses  12,187 23,378 
  1,709,202 1,545,470 
    
Amount attributable to insurance acquisition cashflows 

incurred during the year   (471,533) (371,212) 
Amortisation of insurance acquisition cashflows   122,880 88,234 
Total expenses  1,360,549 1,262,492 
    
Represented by:    
Insurance service expenses  1,136,300 1,027,605 
Other operating expenses  224,249 234,887 
Total expenses  1,360,549 1,262,492 
    

9 Income tax expense 
 

(a) Major components of income tax expense 
 
 2024 2023 
   
Group   
Current income tax   
- Current taxation 25,044 32,185 
- (Over)/ under provision in respect of prior years (3,103) 211 
Deferred income tax   
- Reversal of temporary differences (7,851) (13,780) 
Income tax expense recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income 14,090 18,616 
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(b) Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit 
 
The reconciliation between the tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the 
applicable corporate tax rate is as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 
   
   
Accounting loss before tax (31,596) (24,328) 
   
Tax expense on profit/(loss) before tax at 17% (2023:17%) (5,371) (4,136) 
Adjustments:   
- Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years (3,103) 211 
- Non-deductible expenses 8,444 17,279 
- Income not subject to taxation (1,929) (11,783) 
- Effect of difference in tax basis on participating fund 15,481 15,358 
- Effect of applying 10% concessionary rate on income from 

qualifying debt securities (1,185) (1,597) 
- Deferred tax asset arising from tax losses not recognised 2,430 3,284 
- Others (677)  
Tax expense/(credit) 14,090 18,616 
   
Global minimum top-up tax 
 
In 2024, Singapore enacted a new tax legislation to implement a domestic minimum top-up tax, 
which is effective from 1 January 2025. As the Group is part of a Multinational Enterprise 

-up taxes for its entities in Singapore 
if its effective tax rate ("ETR") falls below the minimum tax rate (current: 15%). The Group 
does not foresee the ETR of the entities in Singapore to fall below the minimum tax rate in 
2025. Thus, no domestic top-up tax is required to be paid to IRAS in 2025. 
 

(c) Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 

 
Statement of  

financial position 
Statement of  

comprehensive income 
 2024 2023 2024 2023 
     
Group     
Deferred tax asset     
Pension liability 77 63 29 26 
Differences between the measurement of 

insurance and reinsurance contract under 
SFRS(I) 17 and MAS Statutory Returns 94,040 88,079 5,961 11,785 

Deferred tax liabilities     
Differences between tax depreciation and 

accounting depreciation (67,089) (68,950) 1,861 1,969 
     
Net deferred tax liabilities 27,028 19,192   
     
Deferred tax expense   7,851 13,780 
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Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items: 
 
 2024 2023 
   
   
Unutilised tax losses 14,294 19,318 
   

 
Deferred income tax asset/(liabilities) consists primarily of temporary differences arising from 
the difference between the measurement of net insurance and reinsurance contracts under SFRS(I) 
17 

2023, Singapore 
insurers will use the MAS Statutory Returns as the basis for preparing the corporate tax returns. 
 
 

10 Investments in subsidiaries  
 
  Company 
  2024 2023 
    
Equity investments at cost    
At the beginning of financial year  3,087,085 3,229,149 
Movement during the financial year    
- Capital injection   14,458  
- Disposal   (142,064) 
At the end of the financial year  3,101,543 3,087,085 
    
Investments in subsidiaries  net  3,101,543 3,087,085 
    
On 28 November 2024, the Company injected capital of $14,457,553 equivalent to 
PHP600,000,000, into Singlife Philippines Inc. in the form of cash.  
 
In prior financial year, on 11 November 2023, the Company liquidated its subsidiary, Singlife 
Financial Pte Ltd of which its nominal value of 135,063,850 has been removed from the 

 
 
In prior financial year, on 22 December 2023, 
has performed a capital reduction exercise comprising 381,864,605 ordinary shares to 1,194,787 
ordinary shares. Correspondingly, a nominal value of 7,000,000 has been removed from the 

in subsidiaries. 
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The Group has the following subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024: 
 

Name of companies  Principal activities 

Country of 
business/ 

incorporation 

Percentage of 
effective equity 
interest held by  

the Group 
   2024 2023 
   % % 
     
Held by the Company      
Singapore Life Ltd.  Underwriting general and 

life insurance businesses 
Singapore 100 100 

     
Singlife Propel Pte Ltd Provision of management 

services to related 
companies 

Singapore 100 100 

     
Singlife Philippines Inc. Transacting life insurance 

business 
The  

Philippines 
80.67 74.40 

     
 

Name of companies  Principal activities 

Country of 
business/ 

incorporation 

Percentage of 
effective equity 
interest held by  

the Group 
   2024 2023 
   % % 
     
Held by Singapore Life Ltd.      
     
Singlife Financial Advisers Pte. Ltd. Provision of financial 

advisory services 
Singapore 100 100 

     
Navigator Investment Services 
Limited 

Investment portfolio 
administration and 

provision of investment 
advisory services 

Singapore 100 100 

     
Professional Advisory Holdings Ltd. Investment holding Singapore 100 100 
     
Held by Professional Advisory 

Holdings Ltd 
    

     
Professional Investment Advisory 

Services Pte Ltd 
Provision of financial 

advisory services 
Singapore 100 100 
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11 Property and equipment 
 

 
Office 

equipment 
Furniture 

and fittings 
Right-of-use 

assets 
Asset under 
construction Total 

      
Group      
Cost      
At 1 January 2023 26,745 21,605 134,269 5,536 188,155 
Additions 1,752 4,434 6,504  12,690 
Disposals (19,677) (11,437) (20,199)  (51,313) 
Transfer to computer software 
licenses 

 
 

 
 

 
 (5,536) (5,536) 

Effect of movements in 
exchange rates (1) (44)   (45) 

At 31 December 2023 8,819 14,558 120,574  143,951 
Additions 66  2,443  3,312  5,821 
Write off (114) (3,422) (1,892)  (5,428) 
Disposals  (500) (2,435)  (2,935) 
Effect of movements in 
exchange rates (6) (2)  

 
(8) 

At 31 December 2024 8,765   13,077  119,559  141,401 
      
Accumulated depreciation      
At 1 January 2023 23,104 12,777 99,027  134,908 
Depreciation charge 1,857 1,300 12,095  15,252 
Disposals (18,640) (4,461) (16,914)  (40,015) 
Effect of movements in 
exchange rates 65  (2)  63 

At 31 December 2023 6,386 9,616 94,206  110,208 
Depreciation charge 1,314  1,520 12,236  15,070 
Write off (114) (1,948) (1,892)  (3,954) 
Disposals  (290) (1,053)  (1,343) 
Effect of movements in 
exchange rates 13   12  

 
25 

At 31 December 2024 7,599  8,898 103,509  120,006 
      
Net book values      
At 1 January 2023 3,641 8,828 35,242 5,536 53,247 
At 31 December 2023 2,433 4,942 26,368  33,743 
At 31 December 2024 1,166 4,179 16,050  21,395 
      
The Group leases office space over an average period of 3 to 5 years for the purpose of its 
insurance operations. There are no externally imposed covenants on these lease arrangements. 
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Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below. 
 
Right-of-use assets 
 
Right-of-use assets related to leased properties that do not meet the definition of investment 
property are presented as plant and equipment. 
 

 Office premises 
 2024 2023 
   
   
At the beginning of the year 26,368 35,242 
Additions 3,312 6,504 
Lease modifications (1,394) (3,283) 
Depreciation charge (12,236) (12,095) 
At the end of the year 16,050 26,368 
   
Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
 2024 2023 
   
   
Interest on lease liabilities 707 944 
   
Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows 
 2024 2023 
   
   
Total cash outflow for leases (13,065) (12,701) 
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12 Intangible assets 
 

 

Computer 
software 
licenses 

Distribution 
rights Total 

    
Group    
Cost    
At 1 January 2023 102,780 527,152 629,932 
Additions 68,731 1,800 70,531 
Disposals (5,669)  (5,669) 
At 31 December 2023 165,842 528,952 694,794 
Additions 54,022  54,022 
Write off (233) (1,800) (2,033) 
Disposals (1,957)  (1,957) 
Effect of movements in exchange rates (122)  (122) 
At 31 December 2024 217,552 527,152 744,704 
    
Accumulated amortisation    
At 1 January 2023 45,147 109,840 154,987 
Amortisation charge 15,958 53,674 69,632 
Disposal (4,651)  (4,651) 
Effect of movements in exchange rates 313  313 
At 31 December 2023 56,767 163,514 220,281 
Amortisation charge 26,430 52,699 79,129 
Write off (8) (975) (983) 
Disposal (1,303)  (1,303) 
Effect of movements in exchange rates (6)  (6) 
At 31 December 2024 81,880 215,238 297,118 
    
Net book values    
At 1 January 2023 57,633 417,312 474,945 
At 31 December 2023 109,075 365,438 474,513 
At 31 December 2024 135,672 311,914 447,586 
    
The Group has recognised costs incurred in relation to ongoing projects as Work-in-progress 

2024 was 
$31,907,591 (2023: $49,313,301). The amount of WIP transferred to completed Computer 
software licenses and began amortisation for 2024 is $49,201,439 (2023: $39,593,858). 
 
Goodwill  
 

-force business) carrying 
amount, including any goodwill, with its recoverable amount. Management compares the 
aggregate of net asset value and goodwill of the acquired business with an approx
fair value based on market comparables to determine whether there is any impairment. 
  
Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions would not 
cause the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amount as at reporting date. 
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13 Investments at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss: 
 
 2024 2023 

 
FVTPL- 

mandatory 
FVTPL-

designated Total 
FVTPL- 

mandatory 
FVTPL-

designated Total 
       
Equity securities       
Quoted 4,794,146  4,794,146 3,825,989  3,825,989 
Unquoted 781,329  781,329 614,944  614,944 
 5,575,475  5,575,475 4,440,933  4,440,933 
Debt securities       
Quoted 328,365  8,046,267  8,374,632 161,316 6,399,997 6,561,313 
Unquoted 65,559 341,091 406,650 42,683 247,780 290,463 
 393,924 8,387,358 8,781,282 203,999 6,647,777 6,851,776 
       
Investments at fair value 

through profit or loss 5,969,399 8,387,358 14,356,757 4,644,932 6,647,777 11,292,709 
       
Current       
Equity securities 5,575,475  5,575,475 4,440,933  4,440,933 
Debt securities 85,730 2,150,507 2,236,237  1,880,667 1,880,667 
 5,661,205 2,150,507 7,811,712 4,440,933 1,880,667 6,321,600 
Non-current       
Debt securities 308,194 6,236,851 6,545,045 203,999 4,767,110 4,971,109 
       
Investments at fair value 

through profit or loss 5,969,399 8,387,358 14,356,757 4,644,932 6,647,777 11,292,709 
       
Singapore government securities of $386,379,000 (2023: $92,146,000) have been pledged to 
derivatives counterparties in respect of the derivative agreements (Note 15). The pledged 
securities are managed daily and the derivative counterparties have the right to receive them when 
there is an increase in credit risk of the Group. 
 
 

14 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
  Group Company 
  2024 2023 2024 2023 
      
      
Cash and bank balances  497,850 541,071 144,943 198,359 
Short term deposit  5,714 53,036   
  503,564 594,107 144,943 198,359 
      
As at 31 December 2024, the Group held cash collaterals of $330,000 (2023: $87,854,000) for 
assets in respect of derivative transactions. The Group did not repledge the collaterals received.  
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15 Derivative financial instruments  
 
In connection with the derivative agreements with counterparties, the Group posted $386,379,000 
(2023: $92,146,000) of restricted securities (Note 13) as collateral to these counterparties at the 
reporting date.  
 
The Group also held security collateral of $Nil (2023: $837,000) in the form of  
US government securities and Singapore government securities at the reporting date. The Group 
has the right to receive them when there is an increase in credit risk from counterparties. 

  
 
Derivative financial instruments included in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December are as follows: 
 
 Contract/ 

notional 
amount 

Fair value 

 Assets Liabilities 
 $   
Group    
2024    
Interest rate swaps   2,575,061  5,248   (162,948) 
Currency forward contracts  9,969,895   50,691   (254,582) 
Total derivative assets/(liabilities)   55,939   (417,530) 
    
2023    
Interest rate swaps  2,002,411 18,027 (113,050)  
Currency forward contracts 6,519,586 148,337 (20,941) 
Total derivative assets/(liabilities)  166,364 (133,991) 
    
 

16 Loans and receivables 
 
  Group Company 
  2024 2023 2024 2023 
      
      
Deposits  5,007 4,158   
Accrued interest receivable  73,145 50,428   
Dividends receivable  757 1,453   
Amounts due from subsidiary 
(non-trade)    135,064 153,203 
Other receivables  23,622 37,237 183 455 
Total loans and receivables  102,531 93,276 135,247 153,658 
      
Amounts due from subsidiary are unsecured, interest-free and is expected to be settled within the 
next 12 months. The carrying amounts disclosed above reasonably approximate fair values at 
year-end. 
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17 Other payables 
 

  Group Company 
 Note 2024 2023 2024 2023 
      
      
Accrued operating expenses  210,515 168,984 4,397 4,875 
Amounts due to subsidiary 

(non-trade)    4,310  
Sundry creditors  264,005 128,045 28,521 6,611 
  474,520 297,029 37,228 11,486 
      
Debt issued  18 544,764 543,910 544,764 543,910 
Lease liabilities  16,569 26,723   
  561,333 570,633 544,764 543,910 
      
Total financial liabilities 

carried at amortised 
cost  1,035,853 867,662 581,992 555,396 

      
 

18 Financial liabilities 
 
Debts issued 
 

 Group Company 
 2024 2023 2024 2023 
     
     
3.375% subordinated fixed rate 

notes 544,764 543,910 544,764 543,910 
     
On 24 November 2020, the Group and Company issued $550 million subordinated fixed rate 

3.375% per annum, payable semi-annually on 24 February and 24 August each year up to 2026. 
If the Notes are not redeemed or purchased and cancelled on 24 February 2026, the interest rate 
from that date will be reset at a fixed rate per annum equal to the aggregate of the then prevailing 
5-year SGD Swap Offer Rate and 2.869%, payable semi-annually in arrears. 
 
Finance costs 
 Group Company 
 2024 2023 2024 2023 
     
     
Interest on debts issued and  

bank loan 
 18,613 18,563 18,613 18,563 
Amortisation of transaction costs 

in relation to the debts issued 
and bank loan 854 851 854 851 

Total finance costs 19,467 19,414 19,467 19,414 
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19 Composition of insurance contract balances  
 
 Note Asset Liability Net 
     
2024     
     
Insurance contracts issued      
- Insurance contract balances 19.2  (284,377) 13,663,119  13,378,742  
- Assets for insurance acquisition cash flows 19.1   (39,188)  (39,188) 

   (284,377)  13,623,931  13,339,554  
Reinsurance contracts held 19.3  (737,546)  794,311   56,765 
     
2023     
     
Insurance contracts issued     
- Insurance contract balances 19.2 (417,315) 11,811,465 11,394,150 
- Assets for insurance acquisition cash flows 19.1 (25,708)  (25,708) 

  (443,023) 11,811,465 11,368,442 
Reinsurance contracts held 19.3 (1,352,744) 902,488 (450,256) 
     

19.1 Insurance Acquisition Cashflows: 
 

19.1.1 Assets for insurance acquisition cash flows  
 
 Group 
 2024 2023 
   
   
Balance as at 1 January 25,708 12,494 
Other amounts incurred during the year  15,705  14,679 
Amounts derecognised and included in the measurement of 

insurance contracts 
 

 (2,225) (1,465) 
Balance as at 31 December  39,188  25,708  
   

19.1.2 Run-off insurance acquisition cash flows  
 
The following table sets out when the Group expects to derecognise assets for insurance 
acquisition cash flows after the reporting date. 
 
 Group 
 2024 2023 
   
   
Less than one year  3,821  2,225 
One to two years  3,524  1,273 
Two to three years  2,636  1,019 
Three to four years  2,057  1,131 
Four to five years  2,127  1,191 
Five to ten years  10,285  6,526 
More than ten years  14,738  12,343 
Balance as at 31 December  39,188  25,708 
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21 Share capital and other capital 
 
 Group and Company 
 2024 2023 2024 2023 
 No. of shares No. of shares   
 000 000   
     
Share Capital     
Ordinary shares     
- Beginning of the year 491,235 458,044 2,258,424 2,078,424 
- Shares issued  33,191  180,000 
- End of the year 491,235 491,235 2,258,424 2,258,424 
     
Other Capital     
Beginning of the year   260,000 260,000 
End of the year   260,000 260,000 
     
Share capital and other capital  491,235 491,235 2,518,424 2,518,424 

     
The capital securities bear a fixed distribution rate of 6.059% per annum, subject to a reset on 30 
November 2027 (and every seven years thereafter) to a rate equal to the prevailing seven-year 
Singapore Dollar SOR plus a margin of 5.369%.  
 
Distributions are payable semi-annually on 30 May and 30 November of each year, unless 
cancelled by the Company at its sole discretion or unless the Company has no obligation to pay 
the distributions. The capital securities constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations 
of the Company and rank pari passu without preference among themselves. 

 
22 Share-based payment arrangements 

 
Employees of certain Group entities are entitled to share-based payments under the schemes 
described below. The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference 
to the fair value at the date which they are granted. The cost of equity-settled transaction is 
recognised, together with a corresponding increase in share-based compensation reserve within 
equity, over the period in which the performance conditions (if any) are fulfilled, ending on the 

 
 
Share-based compensation plans (equity-settled) 
 

 
 
The MEIP is a targeted long-term incentive plan for critical executive level management launched 
during the year.  
 
Eligible participants receive two equity grants split equally between a grant of time-based options 
with a 5 year ratable vest; and a grant of performance based options with a 5 years vest, linked to 

 
 
These options expire 10 years from the date of grant and can only be exercised following a 
liquidity event.  
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Share-based remuneration 
 
As part of the acquisition by the ultimate holding company in March 2024, the MEIP plan has 
been modified and no longer meet the definition of a share-based payment. Consequently, the 
share-based compensation reserve relating to the MEIP of $17,898,850 has been reversed. In 
2023, the total share-based remuneration expenses charged to profit or loss was $1,716,830. 
 
The average fair value of each share granted at grant date was SGD nil (2023: SGD 4.27) for 
MEIP granted by the Group. 
 
The average fair value of each share granted at grant date was nil (2023: nil) for Aviva plc plans. 

 
 

23 Related party transactions 
 
In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the 
following significant transactions between the Group and the related parties took place at terms 
agreed between the parties: 
 
Sales and purchases of services 
 
 Group Company 
 2024 2023 2024 2023 
     
     

Interest paid/payable for perpetual 
capital securities to a 
shareholder 15,797 15,753 15,797 15,753 

     
Key management personnel compensation 
 
 Group Company 
 2024 2023 2024 2023 
     
     
Employee benefits 5,138 5,803 4,207 4,637 
Share-based payments  384  384 
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24 Fair value of financial instruments 
 
Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value 
 
The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of 
fair value hierarchy: 
 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
     
Group     
     
2024     
Financial assets     
Equity securities 4,793,883  263 781,329 5,575,475 
Debt securities 5,809,391 2,971,891  8,781,282  
Currency forward contracts  50,691  50,691 
Interest rate swaps 5,248 5,248 
At 31 December 2024 10,603,274 3,028,093 781,329 14,412,696 
     
Financial liabilities     
Currency forward contracts  (254,582)  (254,582) 
Interest rate swaps  (162,948)  (162,948) 
At 31 December 2024  (417,530)  (417,530) 
     
2023      
Financial assets     
Equity securities 3,824,909 1,080 614,944 4,440,933 
Debt securities 3,497,020 3,354,756  6,851,776 
Currency forward contracts  148,337  148,337 
Interest rate swaps  18,027  18,027 
At 31 December 2023 7,321,929 3,522,200 614,944 11,459,073 
     
Financial liabilities     
Currency forward contracts  (20,941)  (20,941) 
Interest rate swaps  (113,050)  (113,050) 
At 31 December 2023  (133,991)  (133,991) 
     
During the year, there was no transfer from Level 2 to Level 3 and vice versa (2023: none). 
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Movements in level 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
 
The following table presents the reconciliation for all assets measured at fair value based on 
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3): 

 

Equities 
securities 

mandatorily at 
FVTPL 

  
Group  
Financial assets  
At the beginning of the year 614,944 
Total loss for the year   

Change in fair value  24,643 
Purchases and disposals for the year  

Purchases 154,480 
Sales (12,738) 

At the end of the year 781,329 
  
Financial assets  
At the beginning of the year 467,028 
Total loss for the year   

Change in fair value  (48,956) 
Purchases and disposals for the year  

Purchases 226,121 
Sales (29,249) 

At the end of the year 614,944 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
 
The Group classifies fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the 
following levels: 
 
Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 
Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from 
prices) 
 

Level 3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs) 
 

 
The investment accounting team regularly reviews the fair values of the investments held. If third 
party information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair value, then 
the investment accounting team documents the evidence obtained from the third parties to support 
the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of SFRS(I), including the level in the 
fair value hierarchy the resulting fair value estimates should be classified. 
 



Singapore Life Holdings Pte. Ltd. and its subsidiaries 
Financial statements 

Year ended 31 December 2024 
 
 

FS80 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the 
fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level 
of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement 
(with Level 3 being the lowest). 
 
The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the 
reporting period during which the change has occurred. 
 
Determination of fair value 
 
Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value 
 
Quoted equity and debt 

securities (Note 13) 
Fair value is determined directly by reference to their published 
closing prices from established pricing sources at the reporting 
date. 
 

Unquoted equity and debt 
securities (Note 13) 

Fair value is determined directly by reference to latest Net Asset 
Value provided by fund administrator and third party broker 
quotes and inhouse valuation techniques from observable inputs. 
 

Derivatives (Note 15) Derivative financial instruments are valued at market prices 
provided by counterparties, determined by reference to market 
values for similar instruments. 
 

 
Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose 
carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value 
 
Loans and receivables 

(Note 16), and financial 
liabilities carried at 
amortised cost (Note 17) 

The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are 
a reasonable approximation of fair values due to their short-term 
nature. Fair value is determined on initial recognition and, for 
disclosure purposes, at each annual reporting date. 

 
 

25 Risk management policies 
 
Financial risk management objectives and policies 
 
Investment objective 
 

assets are held to meet future liabilities and regulatory requirements. The aim is to match the 
investments held to support a line of business to the nature of the underlying liabilities, whilst at 
the same time considering local regulatory requirements, the level of risk inherent within different 
investments, and the desire to generate superior investment returns, where compatible with this 
stated strategy and risk appetite. 
 
Assets must be managed in a sound and prudent manner taking into account the profile of the 
liabilities of each fund and the impact on its solvency position. Investments are made in 
compliance with the prevailing regulatory requirements with due consideration given to the 
exposures arising from the various financial risks. 
 



Singapore Life Holdings Pte. Ltd. and its subsidiaries 
Financial statements 

Year ended 31 December 2024 
 
 

FS81 

instruments. 
 
Equity exposures are managed within the approved Strategic Asset Allocation that are set with 
reference to the overall appetite for market risk. The credit quality of the underlying debt 
securities within investment vehicles is managed by the safeguards built into the investment 

 
 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to mitigate the impact of adverse market 
movement and facilitate efficient portfolio management. The Group does not hold derivative 
financial instruments for speculative purposes.  
 
Derivative financial instruments are classified as FVTPL and accounted for at fair value through 
profit or loss. 
 
Policies and process 
 
The  

-
making regarding the investment of funds in a manner to ensure safety of investments, while 
managing liquidity to meet the business requirements and policyholder obligations and providing 
adequate investment return using authorised instruments. 
 
The Board delegates the authority to make all investment decisions to the Asset and Liability 

quarterly, and report to the Board all material investment decisions.  
 
The role of the ALCO/IC is to review and approve the asset allocation of non-linked funds, ensure 
that the investment policy is consistent with the asset-liability management strategies, ensure 
investment limits are complied with, decide on whether any investments are inappropriate and 
ensure that adequate resources are dedicated to the investment functions. 
 

-mentioned 
financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks. 
 
As the impact of the above-mentioned financial risks on the unit-linked fund (unitised portion) is 
borne by the policyholders and that the impact on the assets of the participating fund will be offset 
by a corresponding change in the policy liabilities, the net impact to the Group is assessed to be 
insignificant. Therefore, the analysis in the following sections will not include these funds. 
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25.6 Insurance risk

The insurance risks that the Group faces are a result of the uncertainty surrounding the amounts 
and timing of future policyholder claims.

To the extent that the sums assured by the Group exceed the reserves set aside to meet future 
claims, there is a risk that claim payments will exceed the reserves held, potentially having a 
negative impact on the Group's financial statements. 

To manage this risk, the Group includes margins of prudence in determining the amounts set 
aside to meet future claims to ensure that this will be sufficient to meet the Group's liabilities 
to its policyholders under a range of circumstances in accordance with MAS regulations. In 
addition, the Group continues to hold capital in excess of the minimum regulatory 
requirements.

The Group also manages its insurance risks through the use of underwriting and reinsurance. 
Underwriting is used to ensure that the premiums charged by the Group are commensurate with 
the insurance risk it is taking on, while reinsurance can be used to manage the amount and 
volatility of claims.

The Group has an established underwriting process and proper internal controls to assess the 
quality of incoming businesses. All sums assured above the treaty limits will be referred to the 
respective reinsurers for their opinion and final decision. In addition, each underwriter is 
assigned with an underwriting authority (both in terms of sums assured and additional mortality 
risk) according to his or her experience and job level.

significantly limited to Singapore.

The Group has an active reinsurance strategy and work with reinsurers with excellent credit 
rating in managing its insurance risks. In the event of a failure of recovery of claims ceded to 
a reinsurer, the Group will still be liable for claims made by the 

The Group is exposed to concentrations of risk with individual reinsurers due to the nature of 
the reinsurance market and the restricted range of reinsurers that have acceptable credit ratings. 
The Group operates a policy to manage its reinsurance counterparty exposures by limiting the 
reinsurers that may be used. Reinsurance exposures are aggregated with other exposures to 
ensure that the overall risk is within appetite. For the year ended 31 December 2024, 99% of 
the net reinsurance balances are with reinsurers with credit ratings above A- (2023: 80%). 

26 Capital Management

to continue as a going concern and to ensure efficient management of capital that will optimise 
returns to shareholders in the context of the Group's risk appetite. The Group's risk appetite 
includes consideration of the interests of the Group's policyholders as well as management of 
the regulatory requirements of the Group.
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The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in  
economic conditions and the expected new business strain. The Group manages its capital 
position to maintain a balance between investment return, business growth and security for 
solvency. The Group actively involves the shareholders in this process. 
 
In managing the Group's capital resources, a range of key capital metrics are managed and 
monitored regularly in accordance with the Group's risk appetite and statutory requirements. 

d Solvency Ratios 

Regular reporting and assessment of the liquidity and solvency positions are carried out and 
port. To ensure continued solvency, the 

Group monitors the solvency position at least monthly and ensures the level of surplus is kept 
at an adequate level.  
 

annual stress test required by the regulator. The level of surplus is kept at an adequate level to 
support the expected new business growth and to withstand a range of possible adverse market 
scenarios.  
 
Capital resources the Group manages include the Group's net assets, excluding intangibles, 
deferred tax assets and any financial resource adjustments as prescribed by the MAS. In the 
case of the Participating Fund operated by the Group, capital resources include an allowance 
for future non-guaranteed benefits it expects to pay to its participating policyholders. 
 

Group is in compliance with all externally imposed capital requirements during the year. 
 
 

27 Interests in unconsolidated structured entities 
 
Unconsolidated structured entities refer to structured entities that are not controlled by the 

are investments in unconsolidated structured entities.  
 

as to facilitate client transactions, whose objectives range from achieving medium to long term 
capital growth. The Investee Funds are managed by related asset managers and apply various 
investment strategies to accomplish their respective investment objectives. 
 
The Group holds redeemable shares/units in each of its Investee Funds. There is a dedicated 
team in the Group to perform due diligence of the underlying fund, its strategy and the overall 

cisions and introducing 
to policyholders, in the case of the investment-linked fund. All of the Investee Funds in the 
investment portfolio are managed by portfolio managers who are compensated by the 
respective Investee Funds for their services. Such compensation generally consists of an asset 

Funds. 
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fair value of its investments in investee funds, less policy liabilities, in the case of the 
investment-linked fund. 
 
The Group does not provide financial or other support to any Investee Funds. 
 

consolidated financial statements relating to the interest in unconsolidated structured entities 
in the various insurance funds: 
 
  2024 2023 
    
Group    
Investments at fair value through profit or loss    
Participating fund  4,380,181 3,419,174 
Non-participating fund   295,314  80,521 
Unit-linked   590,693  418,181 
  5,266,188 3,917,876 
    
 

28 Contingent liabilities 
 
The Group had 
following: 
 
  2024 2023 
    
    
    
Third parties as collateral for lease of office premises   807  807 
Ministry of Defence and Ministry of Home Affairs for 

the MINDEF and MHA Group Insurance Scheme  
 

4,368  4,368 
Third party for commercial insurance scheme   4,167  4,236 
   9,342  9,411 
    
 

29 Capital commitment 
 
During the year, the Group had entered into separate subscription cum commitment agreements 
with various fund managers. 
 
As at 31 December 2024, there were unfunded commitment of $542,757,000 (2023: 
$530,849,000). These unfunded commitments are expected to be settled as and when capital 
calls are issued by the fund managers. 
 

 
30 Subsequent event 

 
In January 2025, the Company injected capital of $14,177,694 equivalent to PHP600,000,000, 
into Singlife Philippines Inc. in the form of cash. However, the share subscription is pending 
approval from the Securities and Exchange Commission of the Philippines. 
 


